

LUND UNIVERSITY

INITIATION OF EXPERIMENTAL ACUTE PANCREATITIS AND MODULATION OF INFLAMMATORY RESPONSE

Axelsson, Jakob B

2008

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Axelsson, J. B. (2008). *INITIATION OF EXPERIMENTAL ACUTE PANCREATITIS AND MODULATION OF INFLAMMATORY RESPONSE*. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Surgery (Lund)]. Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund University.

Total number of authors: 1

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply: Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00 Bulletin No. 134 from the Department of Surgery, Lund University, Sweden

INITIATION OF EXPERIMENTAL ACUTE PANCREATITIS AND MODULATION OF INFLAMMATORY RESPONSE

Akademisk avhandling

i ämnet klinisk medicin med inriktning kirurgi som med vederbörligt tillstånd av Medicinska fakulteten vid Lunds Universitet offentligen försvaras i Belfragesalen, D15, Biomedicinskt Centrum (BMC), i Lund, fredagen den 4 april 2008, kl 13.00

av

Jakob Axelsson

Handledare: Roland Andersson

Biträdande handledare: Anders Malmström Fakultetsopponent: Folke Hammarqvist Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm



Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2008:31

Organization	Document name	
LUND UNIVERSITY	DOCTORAL DISSERTATION	
Department of Surgery	Date of issue	
Clinical Sciences Lund	February 27, 2008	
Lund University Hospital SE-221 85 Lund, Sweden	Sponsoring organization	
Author(s) Jakob Axelsson		

Title and subtitle

Initiation of experimental acute pancreatitis and modulation of inflammatory response

Abstract

DOKUMENTDATABLAD enl SIS 61 41 21

Heparan sulfate (HS), a substance common in the extracellular matrix on epithelial cells is present in the pancreas, lining the duct lumen. During pathological conditions, we propose that it can be shed from the ECM and bind to receptors on the cell surface, thus triggering an inflammatory response, which if excessive can cause acute pancreatitis (AP).

Influsion of HS in the pancreatic duct in rats results in an inflammatory response without cellular damage, in similarity with lipopolysaccharide (LPS) influsion. The response differs though between the HS- and LPS-influsion both in regards to expressed chemokines and infiltrating cell types. HS-influsion predominantly causes early expression of CCL2 [monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1)] and subsequent early influx of monocytes. Increased expression of CXCL [cytokine-induced neutrophil chemoattractant-1 (CINC-1)] was not seen and neutrophils were shown to appear in the tissue later during the process. LPS, on the other hand, caused a rapid increase of CXCL (CINC-1) and also in early influx of neutrophils, in addition to similar patterns as HS-influsion of CCL2 (MCP-1) and monocytes. Taken together, the results indicate a receptor mediated innate immune response. Both HS and LPS has been

Taken together, the results indicate a receptor mediated innate immune response. Both HS and LPS has been shown to signal via the same receptor. We therefore suggest a difference in signaling pathways induced by the two ligands.

Furthermore, the AP-induced systemic inflammation was studied. The anti-coagulant active site-inhibited factor VII (fVIIai) was shown to drastically decrease the inflammatory response. The effects in reducing neutrophil infiltration differed substantially between different organs. Nuclear factor kappa B (NF κ B) activation was also shown to be affected by fVIIai. Pronounced differences between treatment effects was noted both depending on the studied organ and time point chosen.

noted both depending on the studied organ and time point chosen. In conclusion a novel concept of the initiation of pancreatitis has been studied. The ducal epithelial cells are capable of signaling as a response to HS and LPS and to recruit inflammatory cells. This shows the importance of ductal cells and as a basis of new future pancreatitis specific interventions.

Key words: active site-inhibited factor seven, acute pancreatitis, ductal cells, heparan sulfate, innate immune response, lipopolysaccharide, monocytes, neutrophils, nuclear factor kappa B

Classification system and/or index termes (if any):

Supplementary bibliographical information:	Language	
		English
ISSN and key title:		ISBN
1652-8220		978-91-85897-84-1
Recipient's notes	Number of pages 121	Price
	Security classification	

Distribution by (name and address)

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature

February 27, 2008

Do not try to short-change the Muse. It cannot be done. You can't fake quality any more than you can fake a good meal.

William S Burroughs

The truth is what is, not what should be. What should be is a dirty lie.

Lenny Bruce

Who needs answers? One good question would be a relief.

Dan Bern

© Jakob Axelsson, 2008 Contact: jakob_b.axelsson@med.lu.se www.jakobaxelsson.se

Supervisor: Roland Andersson Department of Clinical Sciences Lund Lund University Hospital, Sweden

Co-supervisor: Anders Malmström Department of Experimental Medical Science Lund University, Sweden

Bulletin No. 134 from the Department of Surgery Clinical Sciences, Lund, Lund University, Sweden

ISSN 1652-8220 ISBN 978-91-85897-84-1 Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2008:31

Printed by Media-Tryck, Lund, Sweden

CONTENTS

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS
THESIS AT A GLANCE
POPULARIZED SUMMARY IN SWEDISH9
ABBREVIATIONS11
INTRODUCTION13
GENERAL BACKGROUND 15 Clinical acute pancreatitis 15 Comparative anatomy and physiology of the pancreas 15 Pancreatic tissue and inflammatory response 19 Experimental models of acute pancreatitis 31
AIMS
GENERAL ASPECTS OF MATERIALS AND METHODS
RESULTS
DISCUSSION
SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS
FUTURE ASPECTS 55 Innate immune response 55 Coagulation 56
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
REFERENCES
APPENDICES Papers I-IV

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following papers, which will be referred to in the text by their Roman numerals. The papers are appended at the end of the thesis.

- I. <u>Axelsson J</u>, Norrman G, Malmström A, Weström B, Andersson R. Initiation of acute pancreatitis by heparan sulfate in the rat. Scandinavian Journal of Gastroenterology 2008; in press.
- II. <u>Axelsson J</u>, Akbarshahi H, Said K, Malmström A, Andersson R. Mechanism of cellrecruitment following heparan sulfate- and lipopolysaccharide-induced acute pancreatitis in the rat. Manuscript in preparation 2008.
- III. Andersson E, <u>Axelsson J</u>, Pedersen LC, Elm T, Andersson R. Treatment with antifactor VII in acute pancreatitis in rats - blocking both coagulation and inflammation? Scandinavian Journal of Gastroenterology 2007;42:765-70.
- IV. <u>Axelsson J</u>, Andersson E, Andersson R, Lasson Å. NFκB activation and anticoagulant treatment during acute pancreatitis in rat. Journal of Organ Dysfunction 2008; in press.

THESIS AT A GLANCE

	Question	Method	Result		Conclusion
Ι	Is HS capable	HS- and TDC-	Clear pancreatic		HS-induced
	of causing local	infusion,	and systemic in-		AP is a
	inflammation of	histology,	flammation, but		receptor-
	the pancreas?	ELISA,	no acinar cell	100.000	mediated
		enzymatical	destruction was		inflammatory
		measurements	evident.		response.
II	How is HS-	HS- and LPS-	Rapid MCP-1 and		Early HS-
	induced	infusion,	MΦ response		induced AP is
	pancreatitis	immuno-	were seen. No		mediated
	mediated?	histochemistry,	CINC-1 increase	a life and	primarily via
		ELISA	and late neutro-	1. 200	monocyte
			phil infiltration.		recruitment.
III	Is fVIIai	TDC-infusion,	Tissue neutrophil	19.0 -	FVIIai
	capable of	Enzymatical	recruitment and	10 -	inhibits AP-
	reducing	measurements,	systemic in-	1 ⁴⁰	induced
	systemic	ELISA	flammation were		systemic
	inflammation		halted after fVIIai	』 ▋ ⁺ ᆸ ᅖ ᆴ	inflammation.
	during AP?		administration.	sinds with saidh saidh birs	
IV	Does fVIIai	TDC-infusion,	FVIIai	13-	NFκB is
	affect NF _K B	ELISA	administration	···	reduced after
	phosphorylation		decreased NFKB	¥ 07-	treatment
	in distant		activation in a	2 ···-	with fVIIai.
	organs during		time/organ dep-		
	AP?		endant manner.	Current APTIN TITLET MACHINE IN	

POPULARIZED SUMMARY IN SWEDISH

(Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning)

Akut bukspottkörtelinflammation (akut pankreatit, AP) är en allvarlig och vanligt förekommande åkomma för vilken det i nuläget saknas specifika terapier. Årligen drabbas ungefär 300 personer per miljon invånare. Av dessa patienter utvecklar uppåt 20 procent svår akut pankreatit hos vilka både sjuklighet och dödlighet är hög.

Rådande paradigm säger, att det framför allt är pankreas enzymproducerande s.k. acinära celler, som är inblandade vid initieringen av sjukdomen. Vi har visat att de celler som bygger upp bukspottkörtelns gångar på ett mycket tidigt stadium är aktiva. Mycket av de efterföljande skeendena beror på vilka ämnen som initierar inflammationen. Både bakterieprodukter såväl som kroppsegna ämnen är möjliga kandidater för denna initiering.

Pankreas producerar förutom en basisk väska, som är till för att neutralisera magsyran som kommer ut i tolvfingertarmen, även enzym som bryter ner föda. Dessa enzym bryter ner såväl svalda växtdelar som animalisk vävnad. De är med andra ord kapabla att bryta ner den egna kroppens vävnad. Man kan på så vis säga att pankreas är en "tidsinställd bomb" som, om den inte kontrolleras på ett både snabbt och effektivt sätt, skulle kunna bryta ner även den egna vävnaden. Därtill producerar levern galla som leds via samma gång som pankreas enzymer och även denna skulle vid sjukdomstillstånd vara kapabel till att skada kroppens egna celler.

Detta kräver ett snabbt försvar och mobilisering av celler, vilka tar hand om skadade celler och även eventuella bakterier från tarmen, som tagit sig mot strömmen upp i pankreas. De första celler som denna potentiellt skadliga vätska kommer i kontakt med är pankreasgångceller. Ytan på dessa celler bekläds av extracellulär matrix som innehåller sulfaterade sockerstrukturer, s.k. heparansulfater. Dessa skulle kunna klyvas från cellytan av både gallans gallsalter och pankreas enzymer. Som fria molekyler skulle de kunna binda till receptorer på den egna eller närbelägna gångceller och signalera "fara" vilket i sin tur skickar dit celler från immunförsvaret, som kan rensa upp skadade pankreasceller samt är kapabla att döda bakterier. I händelse av en kraftig stimulering, överaktivering, av dessa receptorer skulle en allt för stor ansamling av inflammatoriska celler, monocyter och neutrofiler, kunna ske. Detta skulle i så fall kunna leda till en i överkant tilltagen inflammatorisk respons och utveckling av akut pankreatit.

Vi har visat, att tillförsel av heparansulfat i pankreasgången ger en inflammation med rekrytering av inflammatoriska celler. Vilka inflammatoriska celler som rekryteras först beror på vilken substans som tillförs. Heparansulfat, som finns på de epiteliala duktcellerna, ger en ansamling av monocyter medan lipopolysackarider, som finns på utsidan av Gram-negativa bakterier, först orsakar en ansamling av neutrofiler. De av heparansulfat rekryterade monocyterna rekryterar i sin tur neutrofiler. Vilka orsaker till pankreatiten och vilka cellpopulationer som dominerar kan säkerligen ha mycket stor betydelse för utgången för dessa patienter och även avgöra hur behandlingen bör anpassas. Dessa fynd skulle i framtiden kunna användas som underlag till behandling av en grupp patienter som i nuläget bara erbjuds symptomatisk behandling d.v.s. ingen behandling mot de egentliga orsakerna till sjukdomen.

Patienterna som drabbas av svår akut pankreatit utvecklar ofta också systemisk inflammation med sviktande funktion av ett eller flera andra organ som följd. Denna inflammation påverkar koagulationen och tvärt om. Koagulationen består av kedja av olika ämnen som påverkar varandra som en kaskad. I slutet av denna kaskad bildas en blodpropp som stoppar eventuell okontrollerad blödning. Eftersom koagulation och inflammation är intimt sammankopplade har vi undersökt om blockad av koagulationskaskaden kan påverka den systemiska inflammationen vid akut pankreatit. Vi tillförde en icke funktionell mediator, active site-inhiberad factor VII, och kunde då påvisa en minskad systemisk inflammation, men ingen påverkan på inflammationen i pankreas. Utöver detta framkom det även att aktiviteten hos en för inflammation central mediator minskade. Det som dödar patienterna med svår akut pankreatit inte är den ursprungliga inflammationen i pankreas, utan det faktum att ett eller flera av kroppens andra organ slutar fungera. En behandling av detta slag skulle kunna vara till stor nytta för denna patientgrupp.

ABBREVIATIONS

AP	acute pancreatitis
CINC-1	cytokine-induced neutrophil chemoattractant-1 (CXCL1)
CRP	C-reactive protein
ECM	extra-cellular matrix
ELISA	enzyme-linked immunosorbant assay
EMSA	electrophoretic mobility shift assay
ERCP	endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography
fVIIai	active site-inhibited factor seven
H_2O_2	hydrogen peroxide
HS	heparan sulfate
HSPG	heparan sulfate proteoglycan
Ig	immunoglobulin
ĬНС	immunohistochemistry
IL	interleukin
IL-6	interleukin-6
IL-8	interleukin-8 (CXCL8)
IP	intraperitoneal
LPS	lipopolysaccharide
MAL	MyD88 adaptor like
MCP-1	monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (CCL2)
MIP-2	macrophage inflammatory peptide-2 (CXCL2)
МΦ	macrophage
MODS	multiple organ dysfunction syndrome
MPO	myeloperoxidase
MyD88	myeloid factor 88
NAC	N-acetyl cystein
ΝΓκΒ	nuclear factor kappa B
PAMPs	pathogen-associated molecular patterns
PBS	phosphate buffered saline
PFA	phosphate-buffered formaldehyde
PG	proteoglycan
PSCs	pancreatic stellate cells
SIRS	systemic inflammatory response syndrome
TIR	Toll/IL-1 receptor
TRAM	TRIF-related adaptor molecule
TRIF	TIR-related adaptor protein inducing interferon
TLR	Toll-like receptor
TNF-α	tumor necrosis factor-α

INTRODUCTION

Acute pancreatitis (AP) is a serious and, in its severe form, life-threatening condition. No specific treatment is available so far but only symptomatic treatment of the secondary events is targeted.

Much knowledge of mechanisms underlying AP has been gained using a variety of animal models. Still today much of the same concepts regarding causes and mechanisms are discussed as they were 100-150 years ago. Many issues need to be clarified in order to give a more tailored treatment to the AP patients.

A majority of the research has been focusing on the acinar cells as the cells of origin in the initiation, as these are the first damaged observed cells in the opossum ligation model of AP and also human biopsies taken at later stages of the disease. Although not seemingly damaged, the ductal cells may very well be the cell initiating the events leading to AP. In this thesis a novel hypothesis on the origin of pancreatitis involving the ductal cells is presented. The pancreas produces a variety of proteases and lipases, all capable of causing severe damage to the tissues if their activities are not tightly regulated. These defense and surveillance mechanisms need to be most efficient and react very rapidly to any sign of malfunction of the epithelium or invading pathogens. The "ductal defense" hypothesis presented herein answers several of these questions as well as gives a reasonable explanation of the initiation of AP, when this defense system is overly activated.

In this proposed novel hypothesis, heparan sulfate (HS) is shed from the ductal epithelium in response to noxious stimuli such as the action of activated proteolytic enzymes or bile salts. This in turn binds to receptors on the same, or neighboring, cells, causing intracellular signaling and expression of chemoattractants for, particularly, monocytes as a physiological response of clearing the immediate danger of damaged ductal cells. Dysfunctional ductal cells as well as invading bacteria in the pancreatic duct could quickly lead to damage of the gland and uncontrollable release of proteolytic enzymes. Therefore a rapid response, such as provided by the innate immune system, is required. During pathological conditions, this physiological response could be aggravated causing excessive cell infiltration leading to inflammation, pancreatitis. The cellular response to HS differs from the response elicited by lipopolysaccharide (LPS), possibly through different signaling pathways. This interesting finding may have great importance when designing future AP-specific therapies and treatment regimes.

Another issue facing the medical service personal is systemic inflammation as a consequence of severe AP. This condition, often called systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS), can lead to one or more failing remote organs, another condition termed multiple organ dysfunction syndrome (MODS). Counteraction of these life-threatening conditions is essential in the emergency care.

Systemic inflammation affects the coagulation and the other way around. For example, activated protein C is widely used in the severe cases of sepsis. Inhibition of the early events of the intrinsic pathway of the coagulation pathway has shown to be the most influential when attempting to reduce the inflammation. We therefore investigated the impact of active site-inhibited factor VII (fVIIai) on the AP-induced systemic inflammation in a model of severe AP in rats. Dramatic effects on reduction of the inflammatory mediators released systemically were demonstrated while no changes locally in the pancreas could be seen.

Many aspects of the "ductal defense" theory need to be elucidated. Current research in our lab focuses on the signal transduction pathways initiated by HS. Some preliminary data suggest other cell types to be involved in the initiating events and should be further investigated.

GENERAL BACKGROUND

Clinical acute pancreatitis

Definition

Acute pancreatitis (AP) is a clinical term used for an inflammatory process in the pancreas (Bradley 1993). It involves, to varying degrees, local inflammation of the pancreas and may also progress into failure of one or several distant organs. (Beger et al. 1997).

AP is diagnosed by pain in the upper part of the abdomen followed by elevated plasma concentrations of pancreatic amylase and lipase (Steinberg et al. 1994), as well as C-reactive protein (CRP).

Incidence and etiology

Incidence of AP is, in several studies, around 300 per 10⁶ in North-western Europe (Wilson et al. 1990, Appelros et al. 1999, Andersson et al. 2004).

The most common cause of AP in men is alcohol abuse and in women the predominant cause is gall stones (Dufour et al. 2003). The overall main causes can be summarized as follows; gall stones (45%), alcohol abuse (35%), idiopathic (10%), as well as other more rare causes such as post-operation, post-myocardinal infarction and trauma (10%) (Steinberg et al. 1994). Of the latter 10% of miscellaneous causes post-endoscopic retrograde cholangio-pancreatography (ERCP) examinations represent about 3% (de Beaux et al. 1995).

About 80% of the cases of AP are regarded as mild AP and revert by itself, while the rest are severe AP with a considerable morbidity as well as high mortality. Death rates around 5% have been reported in Western Europe and a trend of decreasing frequencies (Wilson et al. 1990, Jaakkola et al. 1993, de Beaux et al. 1995), probably due to earlier diagnosing and more efficient intensive care.

Pathological findings

Histological specimens of AP biopsies are characterized by necrotic acinar cells, vasculature and adjacent adipocytes. Destruction of the vascular endothelium causes hemorrhaging, a consistent feature of AP. Elevated levels of pancreatic elastase and lipase are associated with pancreatitis and more specifically with the destruction of pancreatic acinar cells. During ERCP-induced AP, triggered possibly by barotrauma and osmotic insult, it has been found that pancreatic amylase and lipase increase rapidly after the intervention, peaking after around 8 hours. Lipase both increases and decreases somewhat earlier than amylase (Okuno et al. 1985, Panteghini et al. 1991), the more rapid decrease of lipase depending mainly on its shorter half-life (Junge et al. 1985).

Characteristic of inflammatory infiltrate is a high count of neutrophils. Also macrophages as well as CD4+ and CD8+ cells have been recovered from necrotic tissue of AP patients (Bhatnagar et al. 2001).

Comparative anatomy and physiology of the pancreas

Pancreas anatomy and morphology

Generally, in both man and rodents, the pancreas consists of two parts with two very different functions. The exocrine part, consisting of enzyme producing acinar cells and electrolyte

producing ductal cells, contributes to secretion of digestive enzymes and HCO_3^- rich fluid and is emptied in the duodenal lumen. The endocrine pancreas, which is scattered as islets in the organ, is involved in the regulation of glucose in the blood by responding to glucose levels and secretion of insulin and glucagon to the blood stream.

The gross anatomy of rats and mice are very different from man and pigs (Fig. 1). In human, the pancreas is a well defined organ. In the rat and mouse it is a more diffuse organ exhibiting several lobes (Krinke 2000, Hedrich et al. 2004) and is embedded in the dorsal mesentery. The organ is, in the rat, subdivided into three major lobes, without well-defined borders; right lobe (parabiliary and duodenal segments), body (gastric and splenic segments) and left lobe (terminal part of the splenic segment) (Hebel et al. 1986, Eustis et al. 1990). Such subdivision is claimed not to be apparent in the mouse (Hedrich et al. 2004).



Figure 1. Gross anatomy of man (above) and rat (below). In the organs from both species similar parts can be found; head (duodenal loop), body (ventricular loop) and tail (splenic lobe).

The exocrine pancreas is the part of the pancreas affected during AP. Exocrine tissue makes up the major part of the entire organ. The exocrine pancreas mainly consists of acinar cells forming acini, which are drained by larger and larger ducts and finally drain into the common bile duct, ductus choledocus. In man the main pancreatic duct is single and in most cases drains into the common bile duct. In more rare cases, 5-10% of the population, the pancreatic duct is not fully fused and the head of the pancreas drain into the common biliary duct while the body and tail of the pancreas drain directly into the duodenum without any connection to the common bile duct (Kamisawa 2004).

In the rodent it is different. The rat has at least two main pancreatic ducts, posterior and anterior pancreatic ducts, and there can sometimes be as many as 5-8 ducts (Krinke 2000). The anterior pancreatic duct drains the gastrosplenic part of the pancreas and the posterior pancreatic drains the duodenal part. They have a large number of smaller assessory ducts emptying into the biliopancreatic ducts as well (Kara 2005). There is a considerable variation in the ductal system in the rat, but this was not found to be correlated to different strains when SD and Wistar rats were compared (Kara 2005). Strain dependant differences have been observed when comparing different strains of mice (Lena Kvist, Lund University, Lund, pers. comm.).

Morphologically, the pancreas consists mainly of acinar cells among which different other cell types are unevenly distributed. The exocrine pancreas contains as well as acinar cells, ductal epithelium, vascular endothelium and fibroblasts. The acinar cells are arranged in clusters, acini, which have an empty center and are surrounded by connective tissue (Fig. 2). From the cavity of the acini, ductal epithelial cells form ducts, which also are surrounded by connective tissue. In humans, secretions from the acini first drain into small intralobular ducts, which deliver the secretions to larger interlobular ducts, which finally drain into the main pancreatic duct. In rats and mice, the interlobular ducts empty directly into the common bile duct (Mann et al. 1920). The intralobular ducts proximally consist of intercalated ducts which are lined with flattened cuboidal epithelium. The first part of the intercalated ducts project into the lumen of the acini, where the epithelial cells are called centroacinar cells. The distal part of the intralobular ducts consists of classical cuboidal epithelium and is found within the lobules. From the intralobular ducts the secretions are drained into interlobular ducts. They vary in size and the smaller ducts consist of cuboidal epithelium while the larger ducts consist of columnar epithelium. The interlobular ducts are localized within the connective tissue septae and deliver the secretions to the main pancreatic duct. The main pancreatic duct consists of a single layer of columnar epithelial cells on basal lamina.

The morphology of ductal cells, in contrast to acinar cells, differs greatly between human and rat. In human the ductal cells constitute approximately 14% of the pancreatic tissue volume, while the ducts in the rat constitute only 2% (Githens 1988).

Fibroblasts and resident macrophages are found among the acini as well as in the interstitial space in close proximity to the ducts.



Figure 2. Morphology of the acini and adjacent ducts. Each acinus consists of a cluster of acinar cells surrounded by connective tisse. Between the acinar cells and the ductal epithelium, centroacinar cells are found.

Pancreas physiology

The exocrine part of the pancreas has two main functions, to deliver digestive enzymes, proteases, lipases and saccharidases, as well as HCO_3^- fluid to the jejunum. Enzymes are synthesized and secreted by the acinar cells of the pancreas and transported via the ducts to the common bile duct where it is transported together with bile to the intestine.

The secretion of enzymes from the acinar cells is regulated by cholecystokinin (CCK), but the importance of CCK as a stimulator differs between man and rat, as it has been shown that CCK receptors of the acinar cells play a minor role in the regulation of the secretion from acinar cells. Furthermore, there is a difference in the CCK receptor set in man and rat. The acinar cells of rats and mice have high- and low-affinity CCK-A receptors, signaling for enzyme secretion when stimulated. In human acinar cells, CCK-A receptors are not present. This difference is important in the caerulein model of AP and is discussed in this paragraph.

In man, CCK stimulates secretion of enzymes from acinar cells but has not been reported to enhance fluid secretions. In contrast to the human, rats respond by secretion of large volumes of liquid. Another unique property of the acinar cells in rats, and probably mice, is that CCK stimulation results in large CI secretion. This is not seen in either human or in pig.

The HCO_3^- -rich secretion is produced by the ductal epithelial cells lining the ducts in response to secretin in all species studied. Differences between the function of the ductal cells in humans and rats have though been shown. In humans the intercalated ducts are responsible of HCO_3^- secretion, while in the rat the interlobular ducts are probably the most important in this aspect (Case 2006). After maximal secretin-induced HCO_3^- secretion, the concentration measured in the rat is only half of that found in man.

Coagulation

The coagulation cascade and related events have numerous times been reviewed elsewhere and will not be repeated here. Some interesting and most likely relevant differences between man and rodents, such as concentration differences of different mediators of the coagulation cascade, exist (Walker 2004). These differences may be important when interpreting the results in rat and should be carefully considered before attempting to extrapolate findings from one species to another.

Pancreatic tissue and inflammatory response

The involvement of both resident and infiltrated inflammatory cells in AP were recently reviewed (Vonlaufen et al. 2007a). The involvement of different resident and infiltrating cells during the early events of AP are purely learned from animal studies. In the case of the later events involving the inflammatory cells present at this time, some knowledge has been derived from patient biopsies. Bearing in mind all the limitations of animal models of AP, I would like to present a summary of the AP pathophysiology relevant to the topics of this thesis.

Resident pancreatic cells

Acinar cells

Production of secreted digestive enzymes is restricted to the acinar cells of the pancreas. The acinar cells are arranged in acini, opening into a space that is drained by pancreatic ducts. Results from duct-ligation studies of the American opossum have suggested acinar cells to be involved in the initiating events of the onset of AP. They are capable of expressing CCL2 (MCP-1) but not CINC (Bhatia et al. 2002).

Ductal cells

The cells lining the pancreatic ducts have so far attracted little recognition in the field of AP, and have until recently been considered merely to be involved in the regulation and secretion of electrolytes. Ductal cells have been shown to produce CXCL8 (IL-8) in humans as well as CXCL2 (MIP-2) and CXCL1 (CINC-1) in rats (Osman et al. 1999), therefore being able to recruit neutrophils directly. The same cell type has recently been shown to be capable of expressing CCL2 (MCP-1) upon stimulation with LPS and HS (Axelsson et al. 2008a), making them able to attract monocytes as well.

Resident macrophages

It has been proposed that resident pancreatic macrophages are not involved in the initiation of AP (Gloor et al. 1998, Pastor et al. 2006). This is based on the observation that inhibition of macrophage activation did not reduce the pancreatic tissue destruction in the caerulein model. Compared to other organs such as the Kupffer cells of the liver, the resident pancreatic macrophages are very few in the rat.

At later stages of the disease, macrophages probably play a more active role. It has been shown that macrophages from AP patients are more activated and respond more readily to LPS stimulation than macrophages from healthy tissue (Bhatnagar et al. 2001).

Fibroblasts/pancreatic stellate cells

Recently, myofibroblast-like cells, coined stellate cells, have been characterized in the liver. Similar cells have been shown in the pancreas and are believed to be important, just as their hepatic counterparts, in fibrosis. Most research has therefore been focused on chronic pancreatitis where extensive fibrosis as well as sub-acute inflammation are important components of the clinical picture of the disease.

Extracellular matrix

The vast majority of cells in the body express extracellular matrix (ECM) molecules on their outer surface. These molecules are synthesized in the cell and secreted to the outer side of the cell to make up a complex framework of cross-linked proteins and saccharide structures. The "classical" function of ECM is as a supporting structure but this is far from the only function it has. Many of the essential functions of the body are dependent on ECM, such as chemotaxis, proliferation, coagulation, and several other vital body functions.

ECM is present on the epithelial cell surface, between the cells, inside the cells and beneath the cells as the basal lamina. The acini of the pancreas are divided by septae consisting of connective tissue, basal lamina, which also is present in large amounts around the pancreatic ducts (Fig. 3).



Figure 3. Collagen (light blue) surrounding the pancreatic duct visualised by Masson's trichrome staining. Also visible in the picture are veins containing erythrocytes (red), as well as cytosol (red) and nuclei (dark purple) of acinar cells.

ECM consists of a complex structure made up from glycoproteins and proteoglycans (PG) (Hay 1991). Depending of cell type and localization, different PGs are present.

Collagen

The most abundant protein of the ECM is collagen (Di Lullo et al. 2002). It consists of three polypeptides bound together in a helix. It provides connective tissue, tendons and vasculature its strength and flexibility. The pancreas in humans as well as in rats consists of 2-3% collagen as measured as percent of total protein content and is found evenly distributed over the gland i.e. no major differences between head, body or tail of the pancreas (van Suylichem et al. 1995). In the exocrine pancreas of rats, collagen is found in the largest amounts surrounding the ducts and is thicker around the main ducts and becomes increasingly thinner as the diameter decreases (Hosoyamada et al. 2003). Smaller amounts are found in both the inter- and intralobular septa, as well as surrounding all acinar cells in several species, including rats, pigs and humans (van Suylichem et al. 1995). In pig, collagen type VI has been shown to dominate over type I, IV and V in both inter- and intralobular septae (White et al. 1999).

Proteoglycans

PGs are made of a core protein and one or more bound sulfated glycosaminoglycan (GAG) chains. Numerous PGs are present in the pancreas and are synthesized by a variety of cells.

As mentioned above ECM components are present at various locations and the constituents vary depending on the localization. PGs are present both intracellularly and extracellularly. The extracellular PGs are found in the ECM of the cell surface and between cells as well as in the basal lamina (Fig. 4).



Figure 4. Proteoglycans surrounding the ductal epithelium of the pancreas.

Two main families of cell surface ECM PGs contain HS, the heparan sulfate PGs (HSPG) syndecans and glypicans. Syndecan-1 (SDC1), is one of the most common HSPGs in

humans and has well conserved homologues in mice and rats. It is expressed in the ductal cells of the pancreas and in lower amounts in acinar cells (Conejo et al. 2000). Glypican-1 is present in pancreatic fibroblasts and is also up-regulated on the cell surface of ductal-like cancer cells (Kleeff et al. 1998).

The basal lamina beneath the epithelial layer contains several different PGs as well. Decorin is present around the pancreatic ducts and vasculature but is absent from acinar cells and islets (Koninger et al. 2006). The basement membrane surrounding the acini is rich in perlecan (Murdoch et al. 1994).

Among the various roles of HSPGs chemotaxis is essential in the inflammatory response. The role of PG-mediated chemotaxis is of vital importance in migration of inflammatory cells.

PGs are capable of capturing and loosely binding chemokines, e.g. CCL2 (MCP-1). The chemokines then bind firmly to its receptor and trigger signaling events. This is important in vasculature and lymph ducts where otherwise flow and diffusion would prohibit high enough concentrations of chemokines to elicit the inflammatory response, which was first proven as late as 2003 (Proudfoot et al. 2003).

Apart from being passive carriers of chemokines on the cell surface, they can also be cleaved off and themselves trigger inflammation and cell recruitment. When damage to the cell surface occurs, PG components can be shed and bind to TLRs of the innate immune system.

Heparan sulfate

The HSPGs contain 2-3 HS chains. HSs are, just as chondrotin sulfate and dermatan sulfate, negatively charged acidic GAGs, consisting of repeating disaccharide utits, which to varying degrees are sulfated. The main disaccharide units in PGs are shown in table 1. The most common disaccharide units of HS is glucuronic acid (GlcA) linked to N-acetylglucosamine (GlcNAc). HS is able to bind a huge variety of ligands and therefore interact in numerous biological processes. Among many other, HS is capable of binding; IL-8, antithrombin III, as well as fibroblast and vascular endothelial growth factors.

A growing body of evidence points to the important role of HS in inflammation. The acidic and heavily charged properties, and probably as well as more specific structural properties, HS is able to trap various cytokines when bound to PGs on the cell surface. When it its soluble form it can interact with inflammation in other ways, namely acting as receptor ligands and initiating inflammatory cell recruitment. Shedding of HS has been shown after tissue injury (Subramanian et al. 1997, Kato et al. 1998) and has been proposed to be monitoring tissue injury and repair (Johnson et al. 2002). Initiation of SIRS has been shown to be possible by intraperitoneal administration of soluble HS via TLR4 (Johnson et al. 2004). Biglycan is a chondrotin/dermatan sulfate containing PG. It has been shown to activate NF κ B, via MyD88 by triggering TLR4 as well as TLR2 (Schaefer et al. 2005). Structural differences between the sulfated polysaccharides exist and HS has so far not been shown to signal via TLR2.

Table 1. Selected polysaccharides of glycosaminoglycans. The degree of sulfation can vary considerably and sulfate groups are therefore excluded from the structures. The positions of possible sulfation are encircled with a dashed line.

GAG	PG	Hexuronic or Iduronic acid	Hexosamine	Disaccharide composition	
Heparan sulfate	Syndecans Glypicans Perlecan	D-glucoronic acid (GlcA) L-iduronic acid (IdoA)	D-glucosamine (GlcNAc)	$ \begin{array}{c} \overbrace{(1 \rightarrow 4)}^{cov} \overbrace{(1 \rightarrow 4)}^{cuv} \overbrace{(1 \frown 4)}^{cuv$	
				$ \begin{array}{c} \text{IdoA} & \alpha(1 \rightarrow 4) & \text{GlnNAc} \\ \alpha(1 \rightarrow 4) & \end{array} $	
Chondrotin sulfate	Decorin Biglycan	D-glucoronic acid (GlcA)	D- galactosamine (GalNAc)		
				$\begin{array}{l} \text{GlcA}\beta(1\rightarrow 3) & \text{GalNAc} \\ \beta(1\rightarrow 4) & \end{array}$	
Dermatan sulfate	Decorin Biglycan	D-glucoronic acid (GlcA) L-iduronic acid (IdoA)	D- galactosamine (GalNAc)	$ \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} & \\ \\ \end{array} \\ \hline \\ \end{array} \\ \hline \\ \end{array} \\ \hline \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \end{array} \\ \hline \\ \end{array} \\ \hline \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \\ \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \\ \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \\ \\ \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \\ \\ \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \\ \\ \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \\ \\ \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \\ \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \\ \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \\ \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array}$	
Hyaluronan		D-glucoronic acid (GlcA)	D-glucosamine (GlcNAc)	$\begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \\ \end{array} $	
				$\beta(1\rightarrow 4)$	

Cell signaling and inflammatory response

Many cells of the body are capable of initiating an innate immune response by signaling for recruitment of immune cells. The innate immune system is a very rapid way for the organism to deal with injured cells and invading pathogens. The most important group of receptors signaling for "immediate danger" is the TLRs. The response is very rapid as the signaling is transducted via transcription factors already transcribed and available in the cytosol of the cell. They are translocated over the membrane of the nucleus, stimulating transcriptions or various mediators of inflammation, including chemokines. The chemokines are then secreted, bound to extracellular HS structures and hence providing a gradient facilitating chemotaxis of immune cells.

Toll-like receptors

The innate immune system is the organism's defense against invading pathogens. TLRs are highly conserved surveillance receptors alerting the innate immune system of unknown threats. They all share a conserved extracellular leucin-rich domain and an intracellular Toll/IL-1 receptor (TIR) domain (Rock et al. 1998) that interacts with TIR domains of a variety of adaptor proteins. This group of receptors was first discovered in *Drosophila melanogaster*, where it constitutes the organism's entire immune system, but homologues were soon discovered in humans as well (Medzhitov et al. 1997). In humans, 10 different receptors have been describes to date, all recognizing specific pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs). Bacterial, viral and endogenous components have all been shown to act as ligands to the different TLRs.

There is a distinct possibility that several of the TLRs are involved in the early events of the pathogenesis. This was proved during in the mid-1950s, though more than 50 years would pass until the signaling events of the substances used were shown. In an initial experiment Thal and Brackney (1954) showed that LPS prepared from the Gram-negative E. coli could initiate AP when infused into the pancreatic duct of rabbits (Korn 1963) and goats. Rats also develop AP from E. coli LPS infusion (Axelsson et al. 2008a), as do dogs (Egner et al. 1956), although not all studies have been able to confirm that LPS alone can trigger AP in dogs (Williams et al. 1968). E. coli LPS is known to specifically trigger TLR4 but not TLR2 (Tapping et al. 2000). Thal and Molestina (1955) also showed that similar results could be obtained in rabbits and dogs when toxins from the Gram-positive genus Staphylococcus, known to trigger TLR2 but not TLR4 (Han et al. 2003, Schroder et al. 2003), were infused. The LPS infusion in Thal's experiments was reported not to cause trauma or rupture of the ductal cells, indicating that the response is a receptor-mediated response. This clearly demonstrates the presence of functional TLR2, TLR4, LPS binding protein (LBP), CD14 and MD2 in or in close proximity of the pancreatic duct of these species. LPS signaling molecules have been shown at increased levels during caerulein-induced AP suggesting that these pathways are important (Wang et al. 2005).

LPS has been suggested to be involved in alcoholic AP by reaching the pancreatic tissue via the circulation. This is due to the observation that chronic alcoholics have increased gut permeability. Both human and rat pancreatic stellate cells (PSCs) express TLR4 and CD14 and have been shown to be activated by ethanol and LPS exposure in vivo (Vonlaufen et al. 2007b). Ethanol exposure has also been shown to increase the susceptibility of necrosis instead of apoptosis as is the case without previous ethanol exposure (Fortunato et al. 2006).

The TLRs are signaling via two main pathways, the MyD88-dependant or the MyD88-independent pathways. All TLRs but TLR3 are capable if signaling through the MyD88-dependant pathway, inducing NF κ B nuclear translocation and transcription of proinflammatory cytokines. Both TLR4 and TLR3 can signal via the MyD88-independent pathway, mediated by TRIF. This finally leads to either translocation of the transcription factors NF κ B or IRF-3 and IRF-7 into the nucleus, resulting in transcription of proinflammatory cytokines or IFN- α and IFN inducible genes, respectively.

Figure 5 summarizes the cellular events when the ligands of TLR2 and TLR4 bind to their receptors. TLR4 and TLR2 use several adaptor proteins in the transduction signaling pathway. The four most important of these are; myeloid factor 88 (MyD88), MyD88 adaptor like (MAL), TIR-related adaptor protein inducing interferon (TRIF) and TRIF-related adaptor molecule (TRAM).



Figure 5. Signaling pathways of TLR4 and TLR2. Ligands to TLR4 include endogenous heparan sulfate shed from the cell surface as well as lipopolysaccharides from Gram-negative bacteria. TLR4 utilizes both the MyD88 and TRIF pathways. TLR2 is mainly triggered by products of Gram-positive bacteria and uses exclusively the MyD88 pathway.

TLR4

TLR4 was the first human TLR to be discovered (Medzhitov et al. 1997). The first described and most well known of the ligands of TLR4 is LPS (Poltorak et al. 1998). The LPS response is mediated through several associated proteins. In serum, LPS is bound to LPS-binding

protein (LBP) and transported to CD14 (Takeda et al. 2003). The CD14 in turn lets LPS bind to the complex of TLR4 and MD2, which triggers the signal. Numerous other ligands, both exogenous and endogenous, have been described. Recently ECM components have been shown to be ligands of TLR4. Both hyaloranan oligosaccharides (Termeer et al. 2002), fibronectin fragments (Okamura et al. 2001), produced in response to tissue injury, biglycan (Schaefer et al. 2005), a chondrotin/dermatan sulfate containing PG, mindin (He et al. 2004), and HS (Johnson et al. 2002) have been shown to trigger TLR4 signaling.

TLR4 has been shown to be present in the ductal cells in the rat, but in no other parts of the exocrine pancreas, as well as in vascular endothelium and islets (Li et al. 2005). The receptor is not only expressed but fully functional, as discussed above, in response to LPS. We have also shown that it is very likely that HS stimulation of the pancreatic cells using HS also signals via TLR4. This will be discussed later in the thesis.

TLR4 is a monomeric receptor capable of signaling both via the MyD88-dependant and MyD88-independent pathways. Which pathways that dominates is depending on the ligand responsible for the signaling.

TLR2

The TLR2 receptor is able to recognize a variety of substances of Gram-positive bacteria and *Mycoplasma*. Unlike TLR4, which functions as a monomer, TLR2 always exerts its actions as a dimer (Triantafilou et al. 2006), either in combination with TLR1 (Ozinsky et al. 2000) or TLR6 (Takeuchi et al. 1999a, Takeuchi et al. 1999b). This contributes to its wide range of PAMPs recognized. Ligands include bacterial lipoproteins and lipopeptides (Khor et al. 2007), fungal zymozan as well as lipotechoic acid (LTA) of Gram-positive bacteria (West et al. 2006). There is a specificity of the two different dimers both in regards of ligands and adaptor proteins. Gram-positive bacteria express LTA as well as diacylated and triacylated lipoproteins are specific ligands for the TLR2/TLR6 complex (Takeuchi et al. 2001), while triacylated lipoproteins are ligands for the TLR2/TLR1 complex. Just as CD14 is necessary for LPS stimulation of the TLR4, CD36 greatly enhances LTA signaling via the TLR2/TLR6 complex (Triantafilou et al. 2005). CD14 instead facilitates the signaling of the TLR2/TLR1 complex (Triantafilou et al. 2006).

TLR2 mRNA expression has been shown in canine (Ishii et al. 2006) and human (Zarember et al. 2002) pancreatic tissue.

MyD88

Most TLRs so far described are capable of interacting with MyD88 via hemophilic TIR-TIR interaction, TIR domains being present on both MyD88 and the intracellular portion of the TLRs.

Upon ligand stimulation of the TLR, MyD88 is recruited and binds to the cytoplsmic domain of the TLR by TIR-TIR interaction. This, in turn, recruits IL-1R-associated kinase 4 (IRAK4) and activated IRAK4 phosphorylates and thereby activates IRAK1 (Suzuki et al. 2002, Khor et al. 2007). IRAK1 binds to and activates TNFR-associated factor 6 (TRAF6) (Gohda et al. 2004). Both disassociate from the complex and together activates transforming growth factor (TGF)- β -activating kinase 1 (TAK1) by phosphorylation (Jiang et al. 2002). TAK1 phosphorylates and hence activates IkB kinase (IKK) and MAP kinase kinase 6 (MKK6) (Wang et al. 2001). Inhibitor of kB (IkB) is phosphorylated and degraded, which releases and enables nuclear translocation of NFkB. The NFkB induces transcription of pro-inflammatory cytokines.

Besides NF κ B activation, MyD88 also is able to initiate activation of MAPKs, such as p38 and JNK, activating activator protein 1 (AP-1), as well as activating the transcription factor interferon regulatory factor 5 (IRF-5).

MAL

MyD88 adaptor like (MAL), also called TIR domain containing adaptor protein (TIRAP) (Fitzgerald et al. 2001, Horng et al. 2001), is an adaptor protein involved in the MyD88dependant signaling of TLR4 and TLR2 (Horng et al. 2002, Yamamoto et al. 2002). It is believed to facilitate delivery of MyD88 to TLR4 and TLR2 and thereby making possible to elicit a signal (Kagan et al. 2006).

TRIF

The MyD88-independent pathway is mediated via TRIF and is utilized by TLR4 and TLR3 (Hoebe et al. 2003).

TRIF activates TRAF family member-associated NF κ B activator (TANK) that binds, via TRAF3 and IKK (Yamamoto et al. 2002), binds TANK-binding kinase 1 (TBK1). In turn TBK1 phosphorylates the transcription factors IRF-3 and IRF-7. Both translocate into the nucles and activate transcription of IFN and IFN inducible genes (Sato et al. 2003).

TRIF also interacts with TRIF-recruited kinases, receptor-interacting protein 1 (RIP1) and TRAF6. This complex then activates NF κ B and subsequently inflammatory cytokines are expressed, thus providing a link between the MyD88-indipendant pathway and NF κ B (Cusson-Hermance et al. 2005).

TRAM

TRIF-related adaptor molecule (TRAM) is an adaptor protein bridging between TLR4 and TRIF, facilitating TLR4 to signal (Fitzgerald et al. 2003).

NFκB

Expression of cytokines and chemokines in response to inflammatory stimuli is predominantly regulated by transcription factors, among which nuclear factor kappa B (NF κ B) plays a key role (Steinle et al. 1999, Vaquero et al. 2001, Bhatia et al. 2002, Ramudo et al. 2005, Shi et al. 2006).

 $NF\kappa B$ is a very well conserved gene, being expressed in higher animals as well as in insects and other lower organisms (Waterhouse et al. 2007). It is a transcription factor capable of inducing various mediators such as cytokines, iNOS, COX-2, and several others.

NF κ B consists of several subunits (Rel/NF κ B proteins) in different constellations. Five Rel proteins have been characterized; p50, p52, RelA (also called p65), RelB and c-Rel, all containing a conserved N-terminal region, called the Rel homology domain. The RelA/p50 complex is the predominant heterodimer in most cells and is what is commonly referred to simply as NF κ B. Homo- and hereodimers of p50 and p52 have been shown to inhibit transcription by competing with active dimers such as RelA/p50 (Lernbecher et al. 1993).

IRF-3/7

Interferon regulatory factor (IRF) transcription factors are important in regulating interferon (IFN) transcription. IFNs in turn, induce transcription of other inflammatory mediators as well, such as the chemokine CCL2 (MCP-1). IFN response during AP has been shown to be an important part of the caerulein AP model in mice. Interestingly, IFN- γ KO mice had increased pancreatic damage compared to the WT mice after administration of caerulein (Hayashi et al. 2007).

Expression of IFR-3 is constitutively and ubiquitously expressed, while IFR-7 expression varies in different tissues. In human, a high degree of expression is found in the ductal cells while it is present in lower levels in the rest of the exocrine pancreas. IFR-7 is also expressed in the exocrine pancreas of rats and mice.

Chemokines

Chemokines consists of a large family of structurally related cytokines. Four groups of chemokines have been described and are named based on cystein sequence; CXC, CC, C, and CX_3C (Rollins 1997, 2003).

Chemokines are chemotactic cytokines that attract numerous inflammatory cells important to the progression of AP. Recruitment of inflammatory cells are necessary both for clearing the inflamed area of damaged cells and for activation of cells involved in the tissue repair.

CCL2 (MCP-1)

CCL2 [monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1)] belongs to the CC chemokines and was first isolated in 1973 (Altman et al. 1973) but later characterized in detail (Leonard et al. 1990). There is a 55% homology between the human and murine MCP-1 (Rollins et al. 1989). It is synthesized and secreted by a wide variety of cells, including monocytes, vascular endothelial cells and smooth muscle cells.

CCL2 (MCP-1) binds and activates the chemokine receptors CCR2 and CCR4. It is highly chemotactic for monocytes, T lymphocytes, NK cells and basophils, but shows no effect on neutrophils and eosinophils. It is known to be one of the most potent recruiters of monocytes/macrophages (Fuentes et al. 1995, Lu et al. 1998). In addition to its chemotactic properties, it also activates monocytes, causes Ca^{2+} -influx, and stimulates respiratory burst (Rollins et al. 1991) and stimulates them to secrete a variety of different cytokines (Miller et al. 1992). In both the human and rodents CCL2 (MCP-1) is dramatically up-regulated during different inflammatory states.

IFN- β is a powerful inducer of CCL2 (MCP-1) in peripheral blood monocytes (Fantuzzi et al. 2001). It has been shown in peritoneal macrophages that IFN- γ but not LPS was able to induce CCL2 (MCP-1) expression (Bauermeister et al. 1998). Other inducers of CCL2 (MCP-1) are IL-1, IL-6 and TNF- α .

The CXL8 (IL-8) group

CXCL8 [interleukin-8 (IL-8)] is one of the most important recruiters of neutrophils in man. Two receptors have been described so far that both bind CXL8 (IL-8) with high affinity (Holmes et al. 1991, Murphy et al. 1991).

Although mice and rats do not express CXL8 (IL-8), both species produce proteins showing high degree of similarity to the human growth related oncogenes (GROs), CXCL1-3 (CINCs) in the rat and CXCL1 (KC) and CXCL2 (MIP-2) in the mouse. Besides the sequence homology, functional similarities exist. It has been shown that both CXCL1 (CINC-1) and CXL8 (IL-8) bind to the same CXCR2 receptor (Wuyts et al. 1998), as do the rest of the CINCs (Shibata et al. 2000), the GROs (Ahuja et al. 1996) and the mouse orthologs KC and MIP-2 (Bozic et al. 1994).

The GRO group shows a large sequential similarity to the rat CINCs and is therefore often regarded orthologs. In turn CXCL1 (CINC-1) and CXCL2 (CINC-3) are regarded orthologs to the mouse KC and MIP-2 (Nakagawa et al. 1994). The CXCL8 (IL-8) orthologous genes in the human, rat and mouse are summarized in Table 2.

Table 2. Orthologs of a selection of neutrophil and monocyte chemoattractants in the human, rat and mouse. The human CXL8 (IL-8) has no known orthologs in either species. The mouse ortholog of the rat CXCL3 (CINC-2) remains to be described as well.

Human	Rat	Mouse	Receptor
CXL8 (IL-8)	-	-	CXCR1 (IL-8RA)
			CXCR2 (IL-8RB)
GRO a	CXCL1 (CINC-1)	KC	CXCR2
GRO y	CXCL3 (CINC-2)	-	CXCR2
GRO β	CXCL2 (CINC-3)	MIP-2	CXCR2
MCP-1	CCL2 (MCP-1)	JE	CCR2

CXCL1 (CINC-1)

The CXC chemokine CXCL1 (CINC-1) was first isolated in 1989 (Watanabe et al. 1989a) and the CINC group of chemokines was later further characterized (Nakagawa et al. 1994). It belongs to a family of which three more proteins have been shown in the rat (CINC-2 α , CINC-2 β , CINC-3/MIP-2), all of which are potent neutrophil chemoattractants (Nakagawa et al. 1994). CXCL1 (CINC-1) shares 63-67% sequence homology with the rest of the group. Another group of proteins sharing a high degree of sequence similarity of CXCL1 (CINC-1) are the human GROs, of which it shared 68%, 71% and 69% of the sequence with GRO α , GRO β and GRO γ . It has therefore been suggested that CINCs are the rodent homologues of the human GROs (Zagorski et al. 1993) and well as the mouse KC and MIP-2 (Watanabe et al. 1989b).

CXCL1 (CINC-1) is chemotactic for neutrophils, recruiting them to the site of inflammation. The other members of the group, CINC-2 and CINC-3, have been shown to possess as powerful chemotactic properties as CINC-1, while CINC-3 in addition to its chemotactic properties also is capable of inducing Ca-influx (Shibata et al. 1995).

In conclusion, the innate inflammatory response initiated by the TLRs rapidly results in synthesis and secretion of chemoattractants necessary to recruit inflammatory cells. Via the TLR pathways both chemoattractants necessary for monocyte and neutrophil influx are produced.

Infiltrating inflammatory cells

Monocytes/macrophages

Monocytes are leucocytes found in the circulation but can migrate to inflamed tissue. Monocytes that migrate into inflamed tissue are activated and converted into macrophages (M Φ). Monocytes are capable of phagocytosing foreign matter and protect the body against bacteria. They also clear inflamed areas from malfunctioning endogenous cells and rid the tissue of cell debris.

Monocytes are recruited and extravasate from the circulation by CCL2 (MCP-1). Already one hour after caerulein administration, up-regulation of mRNA expression of CCL2 (MCP-1) can be seen (Grady et al. 1997). We have shown that an up-regulation of the protein is seen 1 hour after HS administration (Axelsson et al. 2008a).

Although resident macrophages seem to play a minor role in the initiation of AP, monocytes are recruited rapidly in several models of AP, including the caerulein (Adler et al. 1979), TDC (Axelsson et al. 2007), LPS (Axelsson et al. 2008a) and HS (Axelsson et al. 2007, Axelsson et al. 2008a) models of experimental AP.

Monocytes, just as neutrophils, cause tissue damage during AP by releasing reactive oxygen species. Just like the neutrophils monocytes are recruited early after the onset of AP. In stark contrast to neutrophils, targeted depletion of monocytes or its chemotactic cues have not been shown to reduce the local damage of the pancreas but only reducing secondary effects such as AP-induced lung injury (Gerard et al. 1997). Instead it has been proposed that monocytes activate other cells such as PSCs (Zhao et al. 2005) and as we propose in this thesis recruits neutrophils.

Neutrophils

Neutrophil granulocytes, or neutrophils, are found in the circulation but extravasate and migrate to sites of inflammation. They exert an important part of the immune system and are capable of phagocytose and neutralize bacteria and foreign material. They also release proteins such as myeloperoxidase (MPO) and elastase. They are believed to be the inflammatory cells predominantly inflicting damage to the pancreatic tissue. Depletion of neutrophils in caerulein-induced pancreatitis dramatically reduces the severity (Gloor et al. 1998, Pastor et al. 2006). Myeloperoxidase (MPO), an iron-containing heme protein localized in the azurophilic granules of neutrophil granulocytes and in the lysosomes of monocytes, is involved in the killing of several micro-organisms and foreign cells, including bacteria, fungi, viruses, red cells, and malignant and nonmalignant nucleated cells. Although it is expressed by other cells, it occurs in a greater amount in neutrophils than other cells.

Neutrophils are recruited by CXCL8 (IL-8) in man and mainly by CXCL2 (MIP-2) and CXCL1 (CINC-1) in rodents but also by other chemoattractants such as IFN- γ . Inhibition of the chemotaxis of neutrophils has been shown to reduce pancreatic injury, as depletion of CXCL2 (MIP-2) reduced pancreatic injury in the caerulein model of AP (Pastor et al. 2003). Infiltration of neutrophils has been reported in the caerulein model to coincide with the influx of monocytes (Adler et al. 1979). Different results have been shown when comparing the HS and the LPS models of AP-induction. In the case of HS neutrophils have been shown to be a secondary event to the influx of monocytes into the pancreas (Axelsson et al. 2008a). LPS on the other hand induces a response with rapid neutrophil infiltration that coincides with monocytes or even precedes them.

Lymphocytes

Lymphocyte infiltration has been shown to be a prominent feature in the development of AP. Both CD4 and CD8 positive T cells are present in low numbers in the healthy pancreas in mice and particularly CD4+ cells are recruited already 6 hours after the start of caerulein injections (Demols et al. 2000). CD4+ cells seem to be particularly important during the AP development as depletion of CD4+, but not CD8+, decreases the pancreatic injury during caerulein-induced AP (Demols et al. 2000).

The fact that CD4+ but not CD8+ cells effects the AP, suggests that not cytotoxic effects of CD8+ cells are dominating the process but rather secondary effects of CD4+ cells. The effects of CD4+ cells during pancreatitis are not know but may include secretion of proinflammatory cytokines or activation of monocytes to exert their inflammatory properties.

The etiology may be crucial for the properties of lymphocytes during AP. It has been demonstrated that in biliary-induced AP, the numbers of CD4+ cells were increased compared to controls, while in alcoholic AP, the numbers were reduced. CD8+ cells also show difference between the groups. They were shown to produce reduced amounts of IFN- γ in biliary AP, while its ability to secrete IFN- γ was increased in the group of alcoholic AP patients (Bhatnagar et al. 2001).

Systemic inflammatory response and coagulation

The local pancreatic inflammation can in the severe form also progress into involving systemic and remote organ inflammation. This condition is called systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS). Characteristic of the severe form of AP is failing of the affected organs, termed multiple organ dysfunction syndrome (MODS).

Inflammation and coagulation have been shown to be intimately connected and blockage of the extrinsic pathway has been shown to reduce inflammation, including AP. The initiating event of the extrinsic pathway is the binding of tissue factor (TF) and activated factor VII (fVIIa). Blocking this interaction has been shown to dramatically reduce systemic inflammation.

Active site-inhibited factor seven

FVIIai is a substance synthesized by incorporation of chloromethyl ketone D-Phe-L-Phe-L-Arg into the active site of activated fVII (fVIIa) (Sorensen et al. 1997). FVIIai is a competitive inhibitor of TF / fVII complex formation. In equilibrium studies it has been shown that fVIIai possess the same high affinity for TF as fVIIa (Sorensen et al. 1997) and it has also been suggested that it has an even higher affinity in other bioassays (Jang et al. 1995). It is established that the fVIIa/TF complex is able to signal via protease activated receptor-2 (PAR-2).

PAR-2

Although the biological functions of active PAR2 signaling differ greatly in different tissues, this receptor is probably important both locally in the pancreas and in the peripheral circulation. PAR2 is activated by proteolytic cleavage of the N-terminal by serine proteases, such as trypsin (Nystedt et al. 1995, Bohm et al. 1996), a proteolytic enzyme found at elevated concentrations in the circulation both during clinical and experimental AP (Le Moine et al. 1994, Hartwig et al. 1999). Trypsin has been shown not only to be elevated but also responsible for part of the NF κ B activation during cerulein-induced AP (Tando et al. 2002).

PAR2 has been implicated in AP (Gorelick 2007) and is also, as mentioned above, involved in TF/fVIIa signaling. Further studies are needed to elucidate the effects of fVIIai on the PAR system, in particular PAR2, during experimental AP.

Experimental models of acute pancreatitis

The events underlying human AP are rather unexplored for several reasons. First, patients usually arrive at the hospital at the earliest several hours after the onset of an AP attack, making the early events impossible to investigate in humans. Secondly, pancreatectomy is not performed, except for removal of necrotic and infected areas at later stages of the disease, which makes access to relevant tissue in order to explore the events leading to pancreatitis scarce. The retroperitoneal localization of the organ makes it inaccessible in patients and healthy volunteers. Therefore numerous animal models have been developed to address different scientific questions related to pancreas physiology and inflammation (Fig. 6). The different models of AP have been reviewed several times in the past (Lerch et al. 1994, al-Mufti et al. 1999, Foitzik et al. 2000, Saluja et al. 2004, Su et al. 2006, Chan et al. 2007, van Minnen et al. 2007) and in order to be able to evaluate the relevance of the results from various experimental models a thorough understanding of their physiological mechanisms is needed.



Figure 6. *Experimental models of acute pancreatitis. A) Diet-induced AP. B) Biliary duct ligation. C) Closed duodenal loop. D) Caerulein. E) HS and LPS retrograde biliopancreatic duct infusion. F) TDC retrograde biliopancreatic duct infusion.*

Based on the observations of two AP patients, who also had gall-stones impacted into the papillae of Vateri, Opie (1901a) proposed the "common channel" theory in 1901. He proposed that gall-stones obstructed the flow of bile causing it to reflux into the pancreas. This theory has never been fully proven and several objections to this theory exist. Despite this, the hypothesis is widely accepted as a valid initiation cause of AP. This theory initiated the starting point of several animal models of pancreatitis based on retrograde infusion of bile or bile components into the pancreas and biliary duct obstruction models.

Retrograde biliopancreatic duct infusion / prograde pancreatic duct perfusion

One of the most widely used duct-infusion model was developed by Flexner in 1906, where he showed that infusion of a sodium taurocholate (TDC) solution into the pancreas caused necrotizing AP (Flexner 1906). Despite his comments on his own experiments that this model caused too much damage to mimic the clinical situation, this model has been one of the most frequently used methods for studying AP and associated remote organ damage. Over the years the TDC model has been modified to control variability and severity. Consistent early findings in the TDC model are focal hemorrhage, necrosis of acinar cells and neutrophil infiltration (Kudari et al. 2007).

Controlling the intra-ductal pressure is crucial when inducting AP by ductal perfusion. In order to be able to perfuse the pancreatic duct at low pressure, prograde infusion of various agents has been used. This is accomplished by cannulating the pancreatic duct at the tail of the pancreas. In many animal species the duct has to be permeabilized using detergent, e.g. sodium taurocholate, or using prostaglandin E2 to cause severe AP (Widdison et al. 1992). Depending on the pressure and concentration of detergent used, several mechanisms for initiation of inflammation in this model can be proposed.

Biliary duct ligation

Biliary duct obstruction is a technique logically developed on the "common channel" theory. It involves surgical ligation of the common bile duct. In most species, including primates and pigs, this only induces pancreatic regeneration or a mild edematous pancreatitis. In rats the progression of the inflammation is a slowly increasing event and both macrophages and neutrophils first appear at 24 hours after ligation (Meyerholz et al. 2007). To aggravate the situation to severe AP, a secretagogue must the administered. In contrast to most other species investigated so far, the American opossum develops a severe necrotizing AP as a result of ligation without any additives (Lerch et al. 1992, Lerch et al. 1993). This fact has made it a favorite model in the studies of initiating events of the disease. It is thought that bile-reflux cause premature activation of pancreatic enzymes, which are responsible of the initiation of the induced inflammation.

Closed duodenal loop

The same year as Opie proposed his famous "common channel" theory, he also suggested an alternative hypothesis. This hypothesis proposed the passage a gall stones through the sphincter of Oddi causing it to malfunction (Opie 1901b). This would in turn permit duodenal content to more freely pass into the bile duct and possibly making its way to the pancreatic ductal system. To include the possible bacterial contribution of the initiation of AP the closed duodenal loop (CDL) method was developed by Pfeffer et al (1957). This initial finding generated subsequent models based on the same principle; both the closed duodenal loop (CDL) and variations of the same model. Suggested mechanisms underlying inflammation caused in this model are discussed in detail in the discussion section of this thesis.

Immunological/inflammatory models

Immunological models have been used since 1907 when Williams and Busch (1907) showed that retrograde infusion of duodenal content, but not sterile-filtered duodenal content, into the pancreatic ducts of cats, caused acute pancreatitis.

Retrograde infusion of live bacteria into the pancreatic duct has been shown to cause inflammation with a rapid onset. Both the innate and the acquired immune system can cause AP and necrosis resembling what is found clinically (Thal et al. 1954, Thal 1955). Thal and Brackney (1954) showed that AP could be triggered by the innate immune system by intraductal infusion of LPS prepared from the Gram negative bacteria *E. coli* and meningococci. In a later study they also showed that similar results could be obtained by the acquired immune system by infusion of ovalbumin in rabbits sensitized to the foreign protein (Thal 1955). Thal and Molestina (1955) further demonstrated similar reactions using toxin preparations from *Staphylococcus* sp, a genus of Gram positive bacteria.

Although the presence of LPS in the pancreatic duct is somewhat doubtful, the presence of HS is indisputable as both syndecan-1 and glypican-1 are expressed on the surface of the ductal epithelium (Kleeff et al. 1998, Conejo et al. 2000). If the amounts necessary to elicit a response powerful enough to trigger an attack of AP are high enough is still not proven but suggested by Axelsson et al (2007, 2008a). HS is shown to induce a rapid CCL2 (MCP-1)

mediated inflammatory response of the ductal cells and a subsequent infiltration of monocytes/macrophages into the pancreas.

Other models of immune-mediated AP include intraductal infusion of foreign serum (Nevalainen 1978). Although it is interesting to note that foreign substances in the serum are able to elicit an inflammatory response, these models are not even remotely connected to clinical AP.

Caerulein

It has long been known that excessive neuronal stimulation can cause damage to the exocrine pancreas. Over-stimulation of the pancreas using cholecystokinin (CCK), or substances similar in action, causes acute pancreatitis. Cerulein, found in the Australian Hylid, *Pelodryas caerulea* (De Caro et al. 1968), as well as other amphibians (Anastasi et al. 1970), is a decapeptide exhibiting the same properties as CCK on regulation the pancreas enzyme secretion. When administered, odematous pancreatitis results in rats (Lampel et al. 1977, Adler et al. 1979).

The theories of mechanisms underlying the inflammatory response following caerulein administration were recently reviewed (Saluja et al. 2007). Caerulein administration results, just as its endogenous counterpart CCK, in an increase of enzyme recreation when given at physiological concentrations. When administered at doses of a 50-fold excess of the maximal stimulatory dose, enzyme secretion is instead inhibited. This is explained by two affinity states of the CCK receptor; high- and low-affinity. At physiological concentrations caerulein and CCK bind to the high-affinity receptors, which elicit enzyme secretion. At supramaximal concentrations, also the low-affinity receptors are occupied and signaling of these receptors inhibits enzyme secretion. This results in premature intraacinar activation or zymogens. Actually, activated trypsin can be measured in the acinar cells just 15 minutes after caerulein stimulation (Mithofer et al. 1998).

When it comes to clinical applicability, the caerulein model seems to mimic pancreatitis caused by the sting of the Trinidad scorpion, *Tityus trinitatis*, (Bartholomew 1970, Bartholomew et al. 1977) or anti-cholinesterase poisoning (Dressel et al. 1979) most closely. Furthermore, the CCK_A receptors on the rodent acinar cells, claimed to cause the events, are not present on human acinar cells (de Weerth et al. 1993). In line with these findings is also the fact that CCK does not evoke any effects on human acinar cell function (Ji et al. 2001, Ji et al. 2002). Despite the obvious poor correlation to common causes of clinical AP and large variability within the model, the caerulein model has become the most commonly used model in rodents and a substantial part of the knowledge in pathophysiology of AP is derived from it. It is claimed to be particularly useful when investigating AP-induced pulmonary injury.

Diet-induced AP

The commonly used choline-deficient, ethionine-supplemented (CDE) diet was developed by Lombardi et al. (1975a) using young female mice fed this particular diet. By varying the diet composition, desired mortality and severity rates can be obtained.

The mechanism of initiation of the inflammatory events in this model remains to be elucidated. Excluding ethionine from the diet does not cause pancreatitis (Lombardi et al. 1975b). Ethionine is a homologue of methionine exhibiting an ethyl group as substituent instead of a methyl group. It inhibits protein synthesis and interferes with ATP metabolism. This probably harms cells producing large amounts of proteins such as pancreatic acinar cells.

Ethanol-induced AP

To more closely mimic the clinical situation of a large part of the AP patients, models based on ethanol exposure have been developed. These have been reviewed in depth previously (Schneider et al. 2002, Pandol et al. 2003). The AP attacks elicited by ethanol most commonly happens after many years of abuse and are not easily simulated in the experimental situation. Several attempts have been made though.

Various less commonly used models

Arginine-induced AP has been employed rarely in animal systems and involves administering a single large dose of L-arginine to rats (Tani et al. 1990). The clinical relevance is very limited and, to my knowledge, only a single patient diagnosed with arginine-induced AP has been reported in the litterature (Saka et al. 2004). The mechanism of which arginine induce AP is not known, but several mediators such as reactive oxygen species and NO have been proposed. NO is a most likely candidate as arginine is a known substrate of iNOS.

After extensive surgery, e.g. cardiac surgery, it is been reported cases of AP. This is thought to be due to hypovolemic shock and has been mimicked experimentally. The main objections to this model are the dramatic trauma inflicted on the animal and the un-specificity of the model, causing injury not only to the pancreas but several other organs as well.

Very similar changes as in the TDC model can be seen during ischemia/reperfusioninduced AP (Hoffmann et al. 1995).

"Mixed models"

In order to more accurately mimic the clinical findings several "mixed" models have been developed. The most reputable of these is the Boston model of AP (Schmidt et al. 1992a, Schmidt et al. 1992b). It is based on the TDC model but with the addition of caerulein injections. It can be adjusted to superficially correlate to clinical findings when comparing histological scores, infection frequencies, etc. It has therefore been particularly useful when studying bacterial translocation secondary to AP as well as interventional studies (van Minnen et al. 2007). However, it suffers from the same disadvantages as the original models it was developed from, e.g. that the initiating noxae have little in common with the causes in humans, as well as being invasive.
AIMS

The overall purpose of this work was to investigate the mechanisms of initiation of AP and modulation of the subsequent systemic inflammatory response. In more detail the following was investigated:

- HS is capable of inducing systemic inflammation when administered intraperitoneally in mice and is readily shedded from injured tissue. Does the pancreas respond with an inflammatory response when administered intraductally?
- HS administration induces rapid influx of monocytes and neutrophils without signs of acinar or other cell damage. HS is a known ligand of TLR4. What cells are the primary initiators in this particular model of AP? How is the influx of inflammatory cells regulated? Does the inflammation induced by HS differ from the response induced by LPS, another known TLR4 ligand?
- FVIIai has been shown effective in reducing the inflammatory response in sepsis. Does pre-treatment of fVIIai reduce the AP-induced systemic inflammatory response?
- The transcription factor NFκB has been shown to be an important mediator of inflammation in numerous inflammatory conditions. Does pre-treatment of fVIIai affect NFκB activation in remote organs during AP-induced SIRS?

GENERAL ASPECTS OF MATERIALS AND METHODS

The outline of the methods used can be found in Fig. 7. For detailed information about the different techniques used, the reader is referred to the individual articles. Below a discussion on the practical matters of the experiments is given.



Figure 7. *Methods used for the investigations. The roman numbers in parentheses refer to the studies the particular method was used in.*

AP models used

Two models of AP were used in the studies, both chosen for particular reasons. In order to study the effect of HS on the ductal epithelium, a HS-induced AP model was developed. No previous models studying HS effects on the pancreas has been published and therefore a novel model was used.

In order to study AP-induced systemic inflammation and remote organ injury the well characterized TDC model of severe necrotizing AP was chosen. It was chosen over other available models as it produces severe systemic inflammation is claimed to be more reproducible than other models of severe AP.

Some considerable variation of the results has been noticed in all the models of AP used. This may be due to the administration of a comparably small volume of solution, 200 μ l in the rat and 50 μ l in the mouse, to a ductal system with a larger capacity. A control of the filling of the pancreatic ductal system using the appropriate volume of black ink was performed in the rat and showed that the duodenal lobe was completely filled (Fig. 8). The more inaccessible

splenic lobe was not inspected. The variation may be due to varying degrees of the filling of the splenic lobe.

In addition to the anatomical and practical considerations, the in vivo environment is a complicated one to work in. Despite long selective inbreeding of strains, each individual is unique and different from the other ones. As noted in the introduction, there is a wide variation in the anatomy of the ductal system. The same variability is probably applicable to the individuals at a molecular level as well. The setup and the density of different surface receptors, e.g. the TLRs, may differ and contribute to the observed variation.



Figure 8. Black ink injected into the pancreas showing the degree of filling of the duodenal lobe of pancreas.

RESULTS

Initiation of AP

Introduction

Initially we wanted to investigate if HS would induce an inflammatory response in the pancreas, just as had previously been shown systemically (Johnson et al. 2004). Consequently, HS was infused into the biliopancreatic duct and tissue and plasma was harvested 6 hours after infusion. Two different fractions of HS were used to discriminate effects of HS of different degrees of sulfation from each other. Two controls were also used in the initial experiments. TDC was used as a reference group as an example of a commonly used model of a very severe necrotizing model of AP. Intraperitoneal administration of the same amount of HS as infused intraductally was used as a negative control to show that the changes in the pancreas were not secondary to systemic inflammation.

HS-induced inflammation and tissue damage

Infusion caused pronounced signs of inflammation of the pancreatic tissue. Histology showed that six hours after infusion significant differences (p=0.010 and 0.018 respectively for HS3 and HS6) of edema were present between the two HS groups and the control.

Influx of monocytes/macrophages was also significantly increased (p<0.001 in both groups) as evaluated using IHC. At the 6 hour time point, elevated MPO activity could be demonstrated in pancreatic tissue homogenates (p= 0.024 and p<0.001, respectively, as compared to PBS).

No statistically significant differences could be seen when evaluating hemorrhage and necrosis in any of the HS groups but only in the TDC group. To further back up the results of the necrosis evaluations, plasma amylase concentrations were measured during the first 9 hours after HS and TDC infusion. This showed no increase in amylase concentration in any of the HS group but a steadily increasing concentration in the TDC group. Both these analyses show that no acinar cell damage was present in the HS groups during the first 9 hours. The group receiving HS IP did not show any statistically significant changes in any of the variables analyzed.

No systematic difference between the HS3 and HS6 groups could be proved statistically. However the MPO data suggests some differences in neutrophil amounts at 6 hours, which may indicate a difference of transduction pathways.

It was now shown that HS was capable of inducing pancreatitis with inflammatory cell counts and systemic inflammation (see below) comparable to the severe TDC model of AP. These profound changes were shown to be induced without acinar cell destruction, leading us to believe that this response was a receptor mediated response.

In order to investigate the mechanisms underlying the rapid cell infiltration in more detail, a second set of experiments were undertaken. Two of the inflammatory cells arriving earliest on the scene of a site of inflammation are monocytes and neutrophils. Monocytes are mainly recruited by CCL2 (MCP-1) and one of the more important recruiters of neutrophils is CXCL1 (CINC-1). Therefore, these two chemoattractants and two cell types were studied during one to nine hours after HS- and LPS-infusion. The variations of monocytes/macrophages, neutrophils and their corresponding chemokines during the first 9 hours after infusion are summarized in Figure 9.



Figure 9. Variation of monocytes/macrophage and neutrophil infiltraion as well as corresponding concentraions of their chemoattractants in the pancreas 1-9 hours after heparan sulfate- and lipopolysaccharide-infusion.

Left: The diagrams show the monocytes/macrophage (brown) and neutrophil (red) counts of the HS and LPS group together with their corresponding chemokines; CCL2 (MCP-1) (light brown) and CXCL1 (CINC-1) (light red) respectively.

Right: The histological images show representative selections of tissue sections of the PBS, HS and LPS groups at 6 hours and 48 hours after AP-induction. All sections are double stained for monocytes (ED1, brown) and neutrophils (MPO, red).

CCL2 (MCP-1)

The immunohistochemical analysis of CCL2 (MCP-1) revealed up-regulation of the protein in the ductal cells already at 1 hour after infusion in the HS, as well as the LPS group compared to PBS. Constitutive expression of the protein was also noted in islet cells and vascular endothelium. At later time points expression was also seen in invading inflammatory cells.

Quantitative analysis using ELISA of whole tissue homogenates showed no statistically significant up-regulation of the protein at 1 hour in either group, but a prominent increase (p=0.026 and p=0.002, respectively, for HS and LPS compared to LPS) at 3 hours after infusion.

CXCL1 (CINC-1)

After HS-infusion no differences in CXCL1 (CINC-1) expression could be detected using IHC. Prominent constitutive expression of the islets was seen.

Protein determination using ELISA did not show any difference in the HS group either at 1 or 3 hours. LPS induced up-regulation already at 1 hour (p=0.015) and at 3 hours the amount was roughly the same (p=0.041).

Just as the different expression of the above chemoattractants suggest, there are distinct differences in the invading cell populations in the HS and LPS groups (Fig. 9). They are visualized as ED-1 positive monocytes/macrophages (black) and MPO positive neutrophils (red).

Monocytes/ macrophages

Infusion of HS and LPS both induce influx of monocytes (p=0.002 and p<0.001 when comparing HS and PLS to PBS) 6 hours after infusion. The same numbers of monocytes are seen at 9 hours in both groups. The stained cells were predominantly found in the connective tissue septae of the pancreas.

Animals infused with HS were also analyzed 48 hours after infusion. The numbers of monocytes remained constant compared to 6 and 9 hours but the localization and morphology of the cells had dramatically changed. The cells had relocated into a more periacinar localization. During the time up to 9 hours after infusion the monocytes/macrophages were round and had a monocyte-like appearance. At 48 hours after infusion, the cells had an irregular shape and were more macrophage-like.

Neutrophils

In the HS and LPS models the neutrophils do not coincide with monocyte infiltration. In the HS model a dramatic monocyte increase is followed by a much less pronounced neutrophil increase. After HS administration a small but statistically significant (p=0.041) increase of monocytes is seen after 9 hours. Forty-eight hours after administration the neutrophil counts are back to basal levels. On the contrary, in the LPS group, neutrophils precede monocyte infiltration and they are more numerous compared to the HS group. LPS induce a significant increase (p=0.009) of neutrophils already at 3 hours after infusion and reaches a plateau at 6 hours, which continues at 9 hours.

MPO cells / activity

The neutrophil numbers do not correlate with MPO activity. Just as in the neutrophil counts, the MPO activity of the MPO group reaches statistical significance at 9 hours, but it is almost twice as high as the activity of the LPS at the corresponding time point. LPS infusion causes a small, but statistically significant (p=0.026), increase already at 1 hour after infusion. The activity of the LPS group plateaus at 6 hours, but only at half of the activity of which the HS group reach at 9 hours.

Systemic inflammation

To indirectly evaluate the magnitude of the local inflammation of the pancreas, systemic inflammation was also investigated. Plasma concentrations of CINC-1, MCP-1, IL-6 and CRP were measured.

Concentrations of circulating CXCL1 (CINC-1) were increased in both HS groups compared to PBS, even though only HS6 reached statistical significance (p=0.055 and p=0.019, respectively). IL-6 is secreted by activated circulating monocytes and is a predictive protein of severity of AP. Concentrations of IL-6 were elevated in both HS groups (p=0.012 and p=0.007, respectively). Circulating IL-6 stimulates hepatocytes to produce the acute phase protein CRP, which is used clinically as a predictor of AP severity. Increased plasma concentrations of CRP could be demonstrated as well but showed variation between the three consecutive experiments (results not shown).

AP-induced SIRS and interplay with coagulation in the TDC model

Local inflammation of the pancreas is the first event of acute pancreatitis and subsequent SIRS. To study the SIRS and MODS following AP, a severe model of necrotizing AP was chosen, i.e. the TDC model. As many studies have shown a profound link between coagulation and systemic inflammation, we wanted to investigate if fVIIai could affect the inflammatory process during AP. Another end point was to study the NF κ B phosphorylation and therefore NAC, an unspecific inhibitor of NF κ B was used.

Pancreas

During AP, no increased MPO activity or NF κ B activation could be demonstrated and therefore no treatment effects could be shown.

Systemic cytokine response

Six hours after TDC-induced AP, IL-6 plasma concentrations were significantly increased (p<0.001). These concentrations were reduced in all, fVIIai, NAC and fVIIai+NAC, treatment groups (p<0.05). CXCL2 (MIP-2) was significantly (p<0.05) increased after AP-induction. This increase was reversed in all treatment groups.

Lung

MPO activity in lung homogenates significantly (p=p<0.05) increase after AP-induction. The levels are restored to baseline levels in all treatment groups.

The NF κ B activation in the lung increased significantly (p=0.017 as compared to controls) 1 hour after AP-induction and was even further increased after 6 hours (p<0.001). Pre-treatment with fVIIai decreased the NF κ B activation at both time points to a similar degree (p=0.002 at both time points as compared to controls). The combination fVIIai and NAC also reduced inflammation at both time points, but to a lower degree than fVIIai alone (p=0.081 and p=0.020 at 1 hour and 6 hours, respectively, as compared to controls). In fact, at both time points the combination was significantly higher (p=0.020 and p=0.001, respectively) compared to fVIIai alone.

Liver

MPO inhibitors are present in high amounts in the liver. Therefore the MPO activity is difficult to measure in liver homogenates, was therefore excluded.

The NF κ B activation in the liver showed some tendencies of increase 1 hour after AP-induction, but was restored to baseline levels after 6 hours. Despite that the increase of NF κ B

did not reach significance, fVIIai pre-treatment significantly reduced the levels at both time points (p=0.002 and p=0.009, respectively) as compared to controls due to lower levels as in healthy animals. Just as in the lung at one hour after induction, the combination of fVIIai and NAC resulted in some decrease (p=0.026) in NF κ B activity compared to controls, but was significantly increased (p=0.041) compared to fVIIai alone.

Distal ileum

In the distal ileum MPO activity was significantly (p<0.05) increased 6 hours after AP-induction. All treatment groups showed close to normal activities.

In distal ileum, NF κ B activation did not increase at 1 hour after induction, but was significantly (p=0.002) raised after 6 hours. This coincides with the influx of monocytes/macrophages (data not shown). Pre-treatment with fVIIai, as well as in combination brought the levels back almost to levels seen in control animals (p=0.002 and p=0.001 for fVIIai and the fVIIai/NAC combination, respectively, compared to AP 6h).

DISCUSSION

The "ductal defense" hypothesis

The current paradigm suggests that initiation of AP in an event of the acinar cells. It is suggested that the first event is blockage of secretion and later co-localization of zymogens and lysosomal enzymes. The activation of trypsinogen and other zymogens are said to cause acinar cell damage, which in turn, recruits inflammatory cells. This current consensus is based on results from experiments performed by duct ligation on opossum (Lerch et al. 1992), a species of which the biliopancreatic ducts resemble the human (Haley-Russell et al. 1992).

We have shown that pancreatic inflammation accompanied by cell infiltration comparable to TDC-induced AP, can be initiated by HS and LPS without any signs of acinar cell destruction. This does not at all fit the commonly accepted theory of AP initiation. What is the biological relevance for a powerful inflammatory response to intraductal administration of HS?

Pancreas synthesizes numerous digestive enzymes which are secreted in their inactive form as zymogens. They are then transported through a ductal system consisting of a single layer of epithelial cells on a basal lamina, to the jejunum where they are activated by intestinal peptidases. Several lines of defense, such as nonoptimal pH, proteinase inhibitors, etc, are present in the pancreas to evade premature activation of the zymogens. If these systems fail, for example during pathological conditions or duct stasis, a quick cellular response is needed to remove damaged cells and induce tissue repair. The innate immune system offers just that, a very rapidly responding system with cell recruitment.

HS is present on syndicans and glypicans, which reside the surface of the ductal epithelium facing the duct lumen. Upon enzymatic cleavage, HS is released and can in its free form trigger receptors on the same cells of which they were cleaved from. When bound to the cell surface they are inactive but have, in its soluble form, been shown to trigger TLR4. TLR4 has been shown to be present only in the ductal cells of the exocrine pancreas, as well as vasculature and islets (Li et al. 2005). In the pancreas, the most obvious substances capable of cleaving HS from the cell surface are prematurely activated enzymes from the acinar cells. However several other proteins and other substances should be considered. The duct cells, as well as the acinar cells, contain heparanase-1 at low concentrations (Koliopanos et al. 2001). Upon rupture heparanase would be released and cleave HS from PGs on the cell surface and thus initiate an inflammatory response by a very local cellular damage. Retrograde bile reflux has been proposed as a possible initiator of AP, and if that is the case, it also has properties both of cleaving HS as well as rupturing ductal cells. Although a controversial cause of AP, as discussed elsewhere in this thesis, retrograde migration of bacteria would also be discontinued by recruitment of phagocytic cells, as receptors triggered both by LPS and LTA are present in the pancreatic duct.

The reasoning above can be formulated as a mechanism of "ductal defense". This "ductal defense" theory therefore offers an explanation of a physiological response to endogenous substances, which during non-pathological condition rapidly is regulated and merely causes an appropriate inflammatory response evade an uncontrollable situation of acinar cell destruction and digestion of the gland. HS can therefore be regarded as a watch dog quick to bark at any signs of danger. During pathological states, such as duct stasis, supra-physiological stimulation of secretion, an exaggerated inflammatory response could be triggered and hence a supra-physiological inflammatory response. A too large infiltration of inflammatory cells would, opposite to the physiological situation where they would prevent further damage, instead inflict damage to ductal and acinar cells and hence trigger and AP attack.

We have shown that, during HS-induced inflammation, chemoattractants for monocytes and monocyte infiltration precede neutrophil infiltration. Chemoattractants to neutrophils are not seen up-regulated by resident pancreatic cells during HS-stimulation but are present in large amounts in the invading monocytes. We therefore propose the process to be a biphasic event, where monocytes are first recruited and then in turn recruit neutrophils (Fig. 10).



Figure 10. Proposed mechanism of cell infiltration after intra-ductal infusion of heparan sulfate of the pancreas.

(1) Soluble HS is present in the pancreatic duct and ductal cells respond by secretion of MCP-1 (dashed line).

(2) MCP-1 recruits monocytes (continous line) from the circulation.

(3) Monocytes thereby extravasate (continous line) from the blood circulation, entering the pancreatic tissue.

(4) Monocytes produce neutrophil chemoattractants like CINC-1 (dashed line), which in turn induce extravasation of neutrophils from the blood circulation.

TLR4 signaling upon HS stimulation

The difference in cell types, monocytes and neutrophils, at the early time point can have several reasons. It has been shown that HS causes cell recruitment to the bladder of WT mice. Inhibition could be seen in TLR4-/- and TRIF-/- but not to the same extent in MyD88 KO mice (Hans Fischer, Lund University, Lund, pers. comm.), suggesting TLR4 signaling via the

TRIF pathway. The TRIF pathway induces IFN, a powerful inducer of CCL2 (MCP-1), but not affected by LPS (Bauermeister et al. 1998). LPS is known to give IL-8 response, via the MyD88-dependant pathway. Two different transduction pathways from the same signaling receptor may thus explain the different cellular responses for the two different ligands.

As seen in Fig. 9, rapid MCP-1 expression precedes monocytes infiltration in both the HS and LPS groups. What differs is the CINC-1 and neutrophil response. HS causes no increase in CINC-1 expression, where LPS induces rapid and pronounced CINC-1 production. The subsequent neutrophil infiltration shows significantly elevated number in the HS group after 9 hours while LPS induces a significant increase already after 3 hours. This evidence strongly suggests two separate signaling pathways, of which the above suggested hypothesis is a likely candidate.

Is LPS a physiologically relevant ligand of TLR4 in the pancreas?

Several researchers have suggested that bacteria are not a likely trigger of AP. One of the earliest results suggesting that bacteria are not involved in AP initiation was published as early as 1919 by Achibald, who was unable to demonstrate backflow of duodenal content through the intact sphincter even at elevated pressure. The most serious objection against the hypothesis of retrograde migration of bacteria into the pancreas is the low numbers of bacteria in the proximal part of the duodenum. To trigger the innate immune system very low concentration of bacteria or bacteria derived substances are needed and there are a certain number of bacteria, even if low compared to other parts of the intestine, in the rat (Axelsson et al. 2006). The fact that early AP is a sterile condition is not any evidence against LPS triggered pancreatitis. If the cells of the innate immune system function properly, even if eliciting a supra-physiological response, the bacteria should be neutralized. This means that the bacteria originally triggering the response cannot be found in bacterial culture.

There are more facts suggesting retrograde bacterial migration to be an event the pancreas has to evade. As discussed in the introduction, the pancreas contains fully functional TLR2, TLR4, MD2 and CD14. Could this be a rudimentary set of receptors and adaptor proteins from a time when the gastrointestinal tract was possibly more prone to invasion of bacteria into the biliopancreatic ducts? It is hardly likely that the entire complex of receptors and associated proteins is conserved in its fully functional state for no obvious use. To produce surface receptors that is of no use is a load for the cell and will be selectively removed during evolution. To think that these complexes are conserved, not just in one species but several, is not only a highly unlikely coincidence, it is logically an impossibility.

Involvement of resident macrophages

The observation that resident macrophages were more or less absent from the healthy pancreas and that monocytes/macrophages started to appear first several hours after AP initiation seem to be backed up by the fact that blocking macrophage activity using gadolinium affects the local inflammation in the pancreas very little but dramatically reduces the extent of remote organ failure in caerulein-induced AP in mice (Gloor et al. 1998, Pastor et al. 2006). This suggests that possibly occurring resident macrophages play a minor role in the initiating events of AP in this particular model of panceratitis.

Clinical relevance of the "ductal defense" theory and evidence from human studies

Löhr et al (1999) showed that the ECM components, laminin, hyaloronan, a known ligand of TLR4, and procollagene-III-peptide were elevated in both the pancreatic secretions and in the circulation during acute necrotizing AP compared to edematous AP. Although failing to incorporate the findings into a biological context, they suggest that these molecules are of pancreatic origin. If these components are shed from the ductal epithelium or not is not known

but the study above shows that they reach the ductal surface and should be able to trigger an innate immune response. If shedded HS is also found in the secretions of pancreatitis patients is not known but highly likely based on the results above.

Systemic inflammation and coagulation

Clinical applicability of fVIIai treatment

Inhibitors of the fVIIai/TF interaction present a possible future treatment regime for APinduced SIRS and subsequent MODS. Doses capable of reducing systemic inflammation needs to be considerable lower than what can cause coagulation disorders. One question that needs to be addressed is the inter-species differences. The rat has twice the amount of circulating fVII compared to man under physiological conditions. This may influence the therapeutic window. One other consideration is that recombinant human fVIIai was used during the experiments. How this modified human protein differ in regards to affinity of different mediators of coagulation and inflammation in different species compared to man is not fully known. This is another relation that needs to be investigated further.

Local and systemic effects of fVIIai

Potential differences in treatment effects locally and systemically in regards to PAR2 activation during fVIIai have been discussed elsewhere (Axelsson et al. 2008b). The lack of demonstrable effects on NF κ B during AP in the pancreas could be explained by several other potential mechanisms. It is known that the effect of fVIIai varies widely among different cell types, although TF is induced in the acinar cells during AP in the rat (Ji et al. 2003). Another explaination might be that this is an effect depending on the nature of the model. In the present model, AP is induced by intraductal infusion of sodium taurodeoxycholate, which solubilizes the pancreatic duct and adjacent tissue. Because of the extensive tissue destruction and subsequent inflammation, it is unlikely to get an effect of pre-treatment, although it may be effective in other secondary inflamed tissues or, as others have shown, in cell culture. Although unable to demonstrate any differences in the model used, other models have shown such as cerulein administration and duct ligation have increase of NF κ B activation also locally in the pancreas (Gukovsky et al. 1998, Samuel et al. 2006). A third explanation may be that p65 is not involved in the activation but rather p50 as shown previously in acinar cells in AP in the rat (Shi et al. 2006).

Physiological relevance of commonly used animal AP models

Many objections may be presented to each of the commonly used experimental models of AP. Most of them address the issue of the initiating noxae not resembling the initiating events in the clinical situation.

The targeting of specific pancreatic cell types believed to be the primary effector cells is a problem. One example of where the models have steered the research in a monotonous way of thinking is the introduction of genetically modified mice (Axelsson et al. 2004). The opportunity to selectively study the impact of a single gene on the development of AP is an incredibly useful tool for the physiologist. The problem is the fact that KOs and transgenic animals are predominantly available in mice and the caerulein model is the model of choice in this particular species. This doesn't make the results produced using KO mice in this model useless but far from universal to AP in general and only applicable for caerulein-induced AP and other models specifically targeting the acinar cells. This may, as shown in the proposed "ductal defence" theory, not always be the case. Several other AP models are available for use in mice, such as the TDC and HS models, and it is advisable that these are evaluated in the same setup as the commonly used caerulein model before jumping to conclusions and presenting them as universal facts concerning the pathophysiology of AP. The same problem is encountered when setting up in vitro systems to study certain events in AP pathophysiology. Many studies have been done on isolated acinar cells and to study their properties. Apart from the difficulties of contamination of other cell types, this, of course, disregards any interaction between different cells types.

The TDC model presents several problematical properties, all of which are hard to neglect. To induce a hemorrhagic AP in rats, a standardized protocol of infusion of 5% solution of TDC is commonly used (Aho et al. 1980). Besides being a supra-physiological concentration, not found in the normal rat, this concentration solubilizes all ductal cells and adjacent acinar cells of which the solution comes into contact with. Again, this specifically targets, or rather excludes, a specific cell type, namely the ductal cells as they are the first to be destroyed, without knowing the relevance of their importance in the etiology of clinical AP. This particular model is said to be useful for the study of secondary remote organ injury during AP. When administering TDC to the common bile duct it solubilizes the duct giving the bile from the liver and the secretions from the pancreas free access to the abdominal cavity. This is something not seen in clinical AP and causes peritonitis affecting remote organs of the same magnitude as rupturing the biliary duct without inducing pancreatitis. Interventional studies therefore are done in a mixed inflammatory model with very little in common with the clinical situation intended to be simulated.

To counteract the problems involved with specifically stimulate or destroy a particular cell type, other less specific or destructive models can be used. To mimic a more physiological situation the ductal ligation or HS models are especially appealing. Both of which do not initially destroy certain cell types and are possibly pathophysiologically relevant.

With this said about targeting specific cells, it is important to stress that these models only reflects certain parts of a complex disease (Schreiber 2000). This is important to take into account when evaluating the clinical applicability of new therapies tested in animals. It is not known how many potentially useful therapies were discarded because of being tested in an animal model not suitable for the certain physiological mechanism of the particular intervention. On the other hand, the opposite problem can be seen where promising therapies have failed in large clinical studies after promising results were obtained from unsuitable experimental studies. The need for more physiologically relevant models of AP cannot be stressed enough. In the long run, it is my firm belief that the development of models better reflecting the clinical situation is of far more value than an intensified evaluation of new interventions in presently existing experimental models of AP.

To summarize the detailed discussion on specificities and limitations of animal models, it is of the utmost importance to choose the model very carefully to suit the particular situation and mechanism of the intended study, when designing studies.

General reflections of science and scientific methods

One of the main reasons that new ideas develop as slowly as they do and that old paradigms are kept despite obvious poor correlation to the human situation is, in my opinion, not purely scientific but more likely political. Several of the cornerstones of the current consensus of the initiation of AP are very doubtful. Many of the more influential researchers in the field of pancreatology have spent a considerably piece of their career working on these theories and are repeatedly seen pleading their case in different reviews of AP. This does not encourage new ideas to be shared freely in an efficient manner although the foundation on which the old paradigms are based is very weak. New trends such as open access scientific journals may in the future promote more openness within the scientific community and thereby facilitating more efficient evaluation of new results and theories.

One thing most certainly differing today's researcher from the Renaissance man is the fraction of the total scientific knowledge known to him or her. This presents a new and everincreasing problem. The smaller fraction of the entire area he or she is able to grasp, the higher the risk of producing irrelevant data. When considering these circumstances, the need for a deeper understanding of biological processes is obvious. Closer collaborations of representatives of the whole area of which medical science is conducted are therefore needed. More inter-disciplinary projects will not expand the knowledge of each individual within a project but will expand the total body knowledge within the project, and hence will increase the probability relevant results being produced.

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

The most important conclusions of the thesis are summarized below:

- HS was shown to be capable of inducing rapid infiltration of both monocytes and neutrophils without causing acinar cell damage. This finding suggests a receptor mediated response in pancreatic cells.
- HS-induced pancreatic inflammation is probably initiated by ducal cells, which respond to HS-stimulation by secretion of MCP-1. Influx of inflammatory cells is a biphasic process where monocytes are first recruited and in turn produce CINC-1, which is capable of attracting neutrophils. HS-induced inflammation is clearly regulated via different pathways as LPS. LPS cause simultaneous influx of both monocytes and neutrophils and thus shows a different time course regarding influx of inflammatory cells to the pancreas.
- Pre-treatment of fVIIai reduces systemic inflammation as well as neutrophil infiltration in remote organs affected by AP. This suggests fVII to be a promising target for future interventional studies of AP-induced SIRS.
- NF κ B was shown to be elevated in three remote organs commonly affected during severe AP. Pre-treatment with fVIIai was shown to reduce the NF κ B activity increase in an organ and time dependent manner.

FUTURE ASPECTS

Innate immune response

We are currently undertaking HS and LPS infusion studies on TLR4, TRIF and MyD88 KO mice to study the signal transduction pathways in greater detail. It has previously been shown, in models of systemic inflammation (Johnson et al. 2004) as well as in epithelium in the urinary bladder (Hans Fischer, Lund University, Lund, pers. comm.) in mice that HS signal through the TLR4. This is very likely to be the case in the pancreatic ductal epithelium as well.

It has been shown that infusion of trypsin, α -chymotrypsin, and elastase into the pancreas cause AP (Yamano et al. 1998). Elastase has also been shown to induce SIRS when administered intravenously (Johnson et al. 2004) and is claimed to cause inflammation via TLR4 (Hietaranta et al. 2004), although criticism has been raised against this, claiming LPS contamination to be the reason (Geisler et al. 2005). All these proteases are likely to release HS from the ductal epithelial wall in the pancreas by cleaving the protein anchor of the HS-containing PG, leaving the HS intact. This may be enough to trigger the TLR4 or other receptor to signal, but it would also be of great interest to investigate if smaller parts of the HS are the active components and the important parts of the ligand. It would therefore be interesting to see if infusion of heparanases and heparinases, cleaving the HS at different sites but leaving the protein anchor intact, would elicit the same inflammatory response.

In connection to the above discussion, the ductal defense can be further studied using heparanase-1 over-expressing mice. Heparanase-1 is present in low concentrations in the ductal epithelium. If the epithelium is damaged, without complete solubilization, a physiological innate response could be elicited. Infusion of a low concentration of TDC would possibly give another degree of inflammatory response in the heparanase-1 over-expressing animals as compared to WT mice.

To further investigate the relationship of the structure of HS and inflammatory activity it would be of great importance to study interaction of different HS with TLR4. Current research is therefore undertaken in our lab on HS of different degrees of sulfation and size to elucidate their inflammatory properties in a TLR4/MD2/CD14 transfected cell line (HEK-293, InvivoGen, San Diego, CA, USA).

It has not been fully elucidated if HS and LPS bind to the same active site on TLR4. This could be done in vitro by pre-treatment with a known antagonist of LPS-mediated TLR4 signaling, such as E5531 (Christ et al. 1995), and thereafter stimulating with HS.

The ducal cells are to some extent affected by both HS and LPS infusion as evidenced by light microscopy evaluation. There changed need to be studied further, preferable using transmission electron microscopy. Comparing the images to human pancreatitis biopsies will provide a possibility to morphologically investigate the biological relevance of HS as a inflammatory initiator.

To show that the initial events shown in this thesis are applicable in human, and not restricted to the rat, it is of the utmost importance to show that the human ductal epithelium responds in the same way as in the rat. Experiments of stimulating human pancreatic epithelium, excised during operation, using HS and LPS either in vitro or ex-vivo would yield evidence of the proposed "ductal defense" hypothesis is an important principle in man as well.

In combination of the experiments proposed above on the active parts of the HS molecules as well as the "true" triggering concentrations discussed under the paragraph 'variability of the models', it is important to investigate if the necessary concentration of free

HS to elicit an inflammatory response can be reached within the pancreatic duct. It would therefore be very interesting to sample the content of the biliary or pancreatic ducts of patients showing signs of stasis of the biliary duct. This could easily be done when doing ERCP to remove obstructing gall stones and analysis of the HS content would yield conclusive evidence of the clinical relevance of this novel hypothesis.

When the studies suggested above are performed and evaluated, clinical studies should be initiated to adapt the current knowledge of HS, LPS and TLR4 in relation to AP, into clinical practice. Several opportunities based on the conclusions from this knowledge are possible. Mixing TLR2 and TLR4 inhibitors to the contrast medium could possibly reduce the incidence of ERCP-induced AP attacks.

Coagulation

Previous studies indicated that the inflammatory properties of fVIIa are mediated though PAR2 (Camerer et al. 2000). It is therefore likely that the anti-inflammatory effects systemically are closely linked to the reduced signaling of PAR2. Other studies have shown that caerulein-induced pancreatitis is less severe in PAR2 KO mice, indicating a protective effect of PAR2 signaling locally in the pancreas. These reversed effects of PAR2 in the pancreas versus the circulation must be addressed in relation to fVIIai. Studies of fVIIai effects using PAR2 inhibitors or PAR2 KO mice would be most interesting and may answer questions concerning possible increased pancreatic inflammation after fVIIai administration.

In an attempt to investigate if fVIIai therapy is effective also after the onset of AP, fVIIai was administered 30 and 90 minutes after TDC-induced AP in the rat. These results show that, although not as dramatic effects as when the substance was given prior to AP-induction, it was effective when lowering the systemic inflammatory response. Many objections to evaluating the clinical applicability of therapy in animal models can be put forward. For example the difference in concentrations of mediators in the coagulation cascade and their possibly varying importance for the inflammatory response are questions that must be addressed before proceeding further in this direction. Despite this, the results indicate some kind of clinical usefulness as it is crucial to investigate if substances are capable of affecting the inflammation even when administered after the onset of AP.

Measurement of fVII and TF in plasma of patients of mild and severe acute pancreatitis as well as healthy volunteers has been undertaken at our lab. These studies did not conclusively show any differences in concentrations between the groups but showed an enormous variation in all groups (data not published). One theory of failing to show results is the interference of plasma lipids with the ELISA used. Further studies in this interesting area of research should prove useful in elucidating if fVII is involved in the progression of systemic inflammation during AP and therefore can be used as a biomarker to access AP severity or predict clinical outcome.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First of all I would like to thank my supervisors, Roland Andersson and Anders Malmström, for guiding me in the field of research, providing me with a balanced mixture of guidance from both the clinical and experimental point of view. Roland has throughout this work been sharing his extensive clinical knowledge and experience and supporting my ideas by giving me a great degree of freedom to develop them. Anders' endless enthusiasm, idealism and unlimited support together with his knowledge have facilitated the progress of this thesis as well. These two researchers, both excellent in their respective fields, have encouraged me to always view a scientific question from different perspectives, which has helped me to broadening my understanding of pancreatitis in particular and science in at-large.

I would also like to express my sincere gratitude to Xiangdong Wang for introducing me to the group, where I stayed for 5 years.

Gunilla Eckerwall, with whom I shared room, work, laughter, and world problems with during these years. Well at least almost to the end.

Monica Radnell, who taught me all the basics of micro surgery and rat handling. I will never forget how you transplanted those tiny rat pancreases and that it actually worked. Apart from being deeply impressed, it also left me with a feeling of nothing is impossible, even if it seems that way when starting out.

Karin Jansner helped me greatly when I learned about histological work and therefore facilitated the extensive histological evaluations contained in this book.

Xia Zhao, for love and war and making this last year much more bearable.

All you brave souls keeping up the good spirit in the in vivo lab all those long days and nights, including but not restricted to Gustav Norrman, Ellen Andersson, Morgan Nordén and Hamid Akbarshahi. Thank you for sharing with me your knowledge in science, clinical work and not least music (yes, without you I would not know to appreciate Peter Tosh, Dolly Parton, Jerry Lee Lewis and Leonard Cohen, respectively).

I would like to give a great thanks to Katarzyna Said, who helped me with analysis over the past year. Without you paper II, the most important piece of work in this thesis, would not been as far gone as it is.

All current and former members of the group (not mentioned above); Ursula Aho, Anna Börjesson, Marwan Dib, Ulla Gülich, Karolin Isaksson, László Nehéz, Knut Olanders, Changbin Shi and Bobby Tingstedt.

All the interesting and kind people in the groups on the floors of C10, C11, C13 and D12. You are so many and I will not list you all. I am sure to fail and leave someone out by doing so.

Björn Weström and Stefan Pierzynowski deserve a big thanks for the very fruitful discussions on pancreas and gut physiology. Inger Mattson for teaching me the Ussing chamber and other lab procedures.

I would also like to express my gratitude to Åke Lasson for initiating the studies of $NF\kappa B$ activation of the tissue homogenates and thereby getting me on the track of studying this important transcription factor.

Barry Rickard for friendship, herp adventures and contributing to this thesis by looking through my manuscripts from time to time and correcting my, not so perfect, English.

The ethical committee groups for keeping an eye out for the animals while giving me good and useful suggestions on my planned experiments.

My family, Eva, Bengt and Jonas, for putting up with all my odd experiments over the years and giving me any support and encouragement needed, this including both inside and outside of the scientific field.

And finally a big thanks to all my friends for making life meaningful.

REFERENCES

Chemokine/chemokine receptor nomenclature. Cytokine 2003;21:48-49.

Achibald B. The experimental production of pancreatites in animal as the result of persistence of the common duct sphincter. Surg Gynecol Obstet 1919;28:529-545.

Adler G, Hupp T, Kern HF. Course and spontaneous regression of acute pancreatitis in the rat. Virchows Arch A Pathol Anat Histol 1979;382:31-47.

Aho HJ, Koskensalo SM, Nevalainen TJ. Experimental pancreatitis in the rat. Sodium taurocholate-induced acute haemorrhagic pancreatitis. Scand J Gastroenterol 1980;15:411-416.

Ahuja SK, Murphy PM. The CXC chemokines growth-regulated oncogene (GRO) alpha, GRObeta, GROgamma, neutrophil-activating peptide-2, and epithelial cell-derived neutrophil-activating peptide-78 are potent agonists for the type B, but not the type A, human interleukin-8 receptor. J Biol Chem 1996;271:20545-20550.

al-Mufti RA, Williamson RC. Experimental models of pancreatitis. Ann Acad Med Singapore 1999;28:133-140.

Altman LC, Snyderman R, Oppenheim JJ, Mergenhagen SE. A human mononuclear leukocyte chemotactic factor: characterization, specificity and kinetics of production by homologous leukocytes. J Immunol 1973;110:801-810.

Anastasi A, Bertaccini G, Cei JM, De Caro G, Erspamer V, Impicciatore M, Roseghini M. Presence of caerulein in extracts of the skin of Leptodactylus pentadactylus labyrinthicus and of Xenopus laevis. Br J Pharmacol 1970;38:221-228.

Andersson R, Andersson B, Haraldsen P, Drewsen G, Eckerwall G. Incidence, management and recurrence rate of acute pancreatitis. Scand J Gastroenterol 2004;39:891-894.

Appelros S, Borgstrom A. Incidence, aetiology and mortality rate of acute pancreatitis over 10 years in a defined urban population in Sweden. Br J Surg 1999;86:465-470.

Axelsson J, Akbarshahi H, Said K, Malmström A, Andersson R (2008a). Mechanism of cellrecruitment following heparan sulfate- and lipopolysaccharide-induced acute pancreatitis in the rat. Manuscript 2008.

Axelsson J, Andersson E, Andersson R, Lasson Å. Nuclear factor-κB activation in response to active site-inhibited factor VIIa pretreatment during acute pancreatitis in the rat. J Organ Dysfunction Accepted 2008b.

Axelsson J, Eckerwall G, Norman G, Dib M, Nehez L, Soltesz V, Weström B, Andersson R. Intestinal bacteria and permeability during experimental acute pancreatitis in rats. Ann Gastroenterol 2006;19:276-284.

Axelsson J, Norrman G, Malmström A, Weström B, Andersson R. Initiation of acute pancreatitis by heparan sulphate in the rat. Scand J Gastroenterol Accepted 2007.

Axelsson J, Wang X, Andersson R. Novel understanding of pathophysiology and potential intervention in acute pancreatitis based on studies of gene-modified mice. Scand J Gastroenterol 2004;39:409-415.

Bartholomew C. Acute scorpion pancreatitis in Trinidad. Br Med J 1970;1:666-8.

Bartholomew C, Murphy JJ, McGeeney KF, Fitzgerald O. Exocrine pancreatic response to the venom of the scorpion, Tityus trinitatis. Gut 1977;18:623-625.

Bauermeister K, Burger M, Almanasreh N, Knopf HP, Schumann RR, Schollmeyer P, Dobos GJ. Distinct regulation of IL-8 and MCP-1 by LPS and interferon-gamma-treated human peritoneal macrophages. Nephrol Dial Transplant 1998;13:1412-1419.

Beger H, Rau B, Mayer J, Pralle U. Natural course of acute pancreatitis. World J Surg 1997;21:130-135.

Bhatia M, Brady M, Kang YK, Costello E, Newton DJ, Christmas SE, Neoptolemos JP, Slavin J. MCP-1 but not CINC synthesis is increased in rat pancreatic acini in response to cerulein hyperstimulation. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 2002;282:G77-G85.

Bhatnagar A, Wig J, Vaiphei K, Majumdar S. Intracellular cytokines in cells of necrotic tissue from patients with acute pancreatitis. Eur J Surg 2001;167:510-517.

Bohm SK, Kong W, Bromme D, Smeekens SP, Anderson DC, Connolly A, Kahn M, Nelken NA, Coughlin SR, Payan DG, Bunnett NW. Molecular cloning, expression and potential functions of the human proteinase-activated receptor-2. Biochem J 1996;314:1009-1016.

Bozic CR, Gerard NP, von Uexkull-Guldenband C, Kolakowski LF, Jr., Conklyn MJ, Breslow R, Showell HJ, Gerard C. The murine interleukin 8 type B receptor homologue and its ligands. Expression and biological characterization. J Biol Chem 1994;269:29355-29358.

Bradley EL, 3rd. A clinically based classification system for acute pancreatitis. Summary of the International Symposium on Acute Pancreatitis, Atlanta, Ga, September 11 through 13, 1992. Arch Surg 1993;128:586-590.

Camerer E, Huang W, Coughlin SR. Tissue factor- and factor X-dependent activation of protease-activated receptor 2 by factor VIIa. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2000;97:5255-5260.

Case RM. Is the rat pancreas an appropriate model of the human pancreas? Pancreatology 2006;6:180-190.

Chan YC, Leung PS. Acute pancreatitis: animal models and recent advances in basic research. Pancreas 2007;34:1-14.

Christ WJ, Asano O, Robidoux AL, Perez M, Wang Y, Dubuc GR, Gavin WE, Hawkins LD, McGuinness PD, Mullarkey MA, et al. E5531, a pure endotoxin antagonist of high potency. Science 1995;268:80-83.

Conejo JR, Kleeff J, Koliopanos A, Matsuda K, Zhu ZW, Goecke H, Bicheng N, Zimmermann A, Korc M, Friess H, Buchler MW. Syndecan-1 expression is up-regulated in pancreatic but not in other gastrointestinal cancers. Int J Cancer 2000;88:12-20.

Cusson-Hermance N, Khurana S, Lee TH, Fitzgerald KA, Kelliher MA. Rip1 mediates the Trif-dependent toll-like receptor 3- and 4-induced NF-{kappa}B activation but does not contribute to interferon regulatory factor 3 activation. J Biol Chem 2005;280:36560-36566.

de Beaux AC, Palmer KR, Carter DC. Factors influencing morbidity and mortality in acute pancreatitis; an analysis of 279 cases. Gut 1995;37:121-126.

De Caro G, Endean R, Erspamer V, Roseghini M. Occurrence of caerulein in extracts of the skin of Hyla caerulea and other Australian hylids. Br J Pharmacol Chemother 1968;33:48-58.

de Weerth A, Pisegna JR, Huppi K, Wank SA. Molecular cloning, functional expression and chromosomal localization of the human cholecystokinin type A receptor. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1993;194:811-818.

Demols A, Le Moine O, Desalle F, Quertinmont E, Van Laethem JL, Deviere J. CD4(+)T cells play an important role in acute experimental pancreatitis in mice. Gastroenterology 2000;118:582-590.

Di Lullo GA, Sweeney SM, Korkko J, Ala-Kokko L, San Antonio JD. Mapping the ligandbinding sites and disease-associated mutations on the most abundant protein in the human, type I collagen. J Biol Chem 2002;277:4223-4231.

Dressel TD, Goodale RL, Jr., Arneson MA, Borner JW. Pancreatitis as a complication of anticholinesterase insecticide intoxication. Ann Surg 1979;189:199-204.

Dufour MC, Adamson MD. The epidemiology of alcohol-induced pancreatitis. Pancreas 2003;27:286-290.

Egner W, Tansathithaya P, Thal A. An experimental study of bacterial pancreatitis. Surg Gynecol Obstet 1956;103:459-468.

Eustis S, Boorman GA, Hayashi Y. In: Pathology of the Fischer rat : reference and atlas, G. A. Boorman Ed. Academic Press, San Diego, 1990;95-108.

Fantuzzi L, Canini I, Belardelli F, Gessani S. IFN-beta stimulates the production of betachemokines in human peripheral blood monocytes. Importance of macrophage differentiation. Eur Cytokine Netw 2001;12:597-603.

Fitzgerald KA, Palsson-McDermott EM, Bowie AG, Jefferies CA, Mansell AS, Brady G, Brint E, Dunne A, Gray P, Harte MT, McMurray D, Smith DE, Sims JE, Bird TA, O'Neill LA. Mal (MyD88-adapter-like) is required for Toll-like receptor-4 signal transduction. Nature 2001;413:78-83.

Fitzgerald KA, Rowe DC, Barnes BJ, Caffrey DR, Visintin A, Latz E, Monks B, Pitha PM, Golenbock DT. LPS-TLR4 signaling to IRF-3/7 and NF-kappaB involves the toll adapters TRAM and TRIF. J Exp Med 2003;198:1043-1055.

Flexner S. The constituent of the bile causing pancreatitis and the effect of colloids upon its action. J Exp Med 1906;8:167-177.

Foitzik T, Hotz HG, Eibl G, Buhr HJ. Experimental models of acute pancreatitis: are they suitable for evaluating therapy? Int J Colorectal Dis 2000;15:127-135.

Fortunato F, Deng X, Gates LK, McClain CJ, Bimmler D, Graf R, Whitcomb DC. Pancreatic response to endotoxin after chronic alcohol exposure: switch from apoptosis to necrosis? Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 2006;290:G232-G241.

Fuentes ME, Durham SK, Swerdel MR, Lewin AC, Barton DS, Megill JR, Bravo R, Lira SA. Controlled recruitment of monocytes and macrophages to specific organs through transgenic expression of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1. J Immunol 1995;155:5769-5776.

Geisler F, Algul H, Riemann M, Schmid RM. Questioning current concepts in acute pancreatitis: endotoxin contamination of porcine pancreatic elastase is responsible for experimental pancreatitis-associated distant organ failure. J Immunol 2005;174:6431-6439.

Gerard C, Frossard JL, Bhatia M, Saluja A, Gerard NP, Lu B, Steer M. Targeted disruption of the beta-chemokine receptor CCR1 protects against pancreatitis-associated lung injury. J Clin Invest 1997;100:2022-2027.

Githens S. The pancreatic duct cell: proliferative capabilities, specific characteristics, metaplasia, isolation, and culture. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 1988;7:486-506.

Gloor B, Todd KE, Lane JS, Lewis MP, Reber HA. Hepatic Kupffer cell blockade reduces mortality of acute hemorrhagic pancreatitis in mice. J Gastrointest Surg 1998;2:430-435.

Gohda J, Matsumura T, Inoue J. Cutting edge: TNFR-associated factor (TRAF) 6 is essential for MyD88-dependent pathway but not toll/IL-1 receptor domain-containing adaptor-inducing IFN-beta (TRIF)-dependent pathway in TLR signaling. J Immunol 2004;173:2913-2917.

Gorelick F. Pancreatic protease-activated receptors: friend and foe. Gut 2007;56:901-902.

Grady T, Liang P, Ernst SA, Logsdon CD. Chemokine gene expression in rat pancreatic acinar cells is an early event associated with acute pancreatitis. Gastroenterology 1997;113:1966-1975.

Gukovsky I, Gukovskaya AS, Blinman TA, Zaninovic V, Pandol SJ. Early NF-kappaB activation is associated with hormone-induced pancreatitis. Am J Physiol 1998;275:G1402-G1414.

Haley-Russell D, Calabuig R, Moody FG. Anatomy of the bilioduodenal junction of the opossum. Anat Rec 1992;232:579-586.

Han SH, Kim JH, Martin M, Michalek SM, Nahm MH. Pneumococcal lipoteichoic acid (LTA) is not as potent as staphylococcal LTA in stimulating Toll-like receptor 2. Infect Immun 2003;71:5541-5548.

Hartwig W, Werner J, Jimenez RE, Z'Graggen K, Weimann J, Lewandrowski KB, Warshaw AL, Fernandez-del Castillo C. Trypsin and activation of circulating trypsinogen contribute to pancreatitis-associated lung injury. Am J Physiol 1999;277:G1008-G1016.

Hay ED. Cell biology of extracellular matrix. Plenum Press, New York, 1991.

Hayashi T, Ishida Y, Kimura A, Iwakura Y, Mukaida N, Kondo T. IFN-gamma protects cerulein-induced acute pancreatitis by repressing NF-kappa B activation. J Immunol 2007;178:7385-7394.

He YW, Li H, Zhang J, Hsu CL, Lin E, Zhang N, Guo J, Forbush KA, Bevan MJ. The extracellular matrix protein mindin is a pattern-recognition molecule for microbial pathogens. Nat Immunol 2004;5:88-97.

Hebel R, Stromberg MW. Anatomy and embryology of the laboratory rat. BioMed Verlag, Wörthsee, 1986.

Hedrich HJ, Bullock GR. The laboratory mouse. Elsevier, Amsterdam, 2004.

Hietaranta A, Mustonen H, Puolakkainen P, Haapiainen R, Kemppainen E. Proinflammatory effects of pancreatic elastase are mediated through TLR4 and NFkB. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 2004;192-196.

Hoebe K, Du X, Georgel P, Janssen E, Tabeta K, Kim SO, Goode J, Lin P, Mann N, Mudd S, Crozat K, Sovath S, Han J, Beutler B. Identification of Lps2 as a key transducer of MyD88-independent TIR signalling. Nature 2003;424:743-748.

Hoebe K, Georgel P, Rutschmann S, Du X, Mudd S, Crozat K, Sovath S, Shamel L, Hartung T, Zahringer U, Beutler B. CD36 is a sensor of diacylglycerides. Nature 2005;433:523-527.

Hoffmann TF, Leiderer R, Waldner H, Arbogast S, Messmer K. Ischemia reperfusion of the pancreas: a new in vivo model for acute pancreatitis in rats. Res Exp Med (Berl) 1995;195:125-144.

Holmes WE, Lee J, Kuang WJ, Rice GC, Wood WI. Structure and functional expression of a human interleukin-8 receptor. Science 1991;253:1278-1280.

Horng T, Barton GM, Flavell RA, Medzhitov R. The adaptor molecule TIRAP provides signalling specificity for Toll-like receptors. Nature 2002;420:329-333.

Horng T, Barton GM, Medzhitov R. TIRAP: an adapter molecule in the Toll signaling pathway. Nat Immunol 2001;2:835-841.

Hosoyamada Y, Sakai T. The ultrastructure of periductal connective tissue and distinctive populations of collagen fibrils associated with ductal epithelia of exocrine glands. Arch Histol Cytol 2003;66:407-418.

Ishii M, Hashimoto M, Oguma K, Kano R, Moritomo T, Hasegawa A. Molecular cloning and tissue expression of canine Toll-like receptor 2 (TLR2). Vet Immunol Immunopathol 2006;110:87-95.

Jaakkola M, Nordback I. Pancreatitis in Finland between 1970 and 1989. Gut 1993;34:1255-1260.

Jang Y, Guzman LA, Lincoff AM, Gottsauner-Wolf M, Forudi F, Hart CE, Courtman DW, Ezban M, Ellis SG, Topol EJ. Influence of blockade at specific levels of the coagulation cascade on restenosis in a rabbit atherosclerotic femoral artery injury model. Circulation 1995;92:3041-3050.

Ji B, Bi Y, Simeone D, Mortensen RM, Logsdon CD. Human pancreatic acinar cells lack functional responses to cholecystokinin and gastrin. Gastroenterology 2001;121:1380-1390.

Ji B, Bi Y, Simeone D, Mortensen RM, Logsdon CD. Human pancreatic acinar cells do not respond to cholecystokinin. Pharmacol Toxicol 2002;91:327-332.

Ji B, Chen XQ, Misek DE, Kuick R, Hanash S, Ernst S, Najarian R, Logsdon CD. Pancreatic gene expression during the initiation of acute pancreatitis: identification of EGR-1 as a key regulator. Physiol Genomics 2003;14:59-72.

Jiang Z, Ninomiya-Tsuji J, Qian Y, Matsumoto K, Li X. Interleukin-1 (IL-1) receptorassociated kinase-dependent IL-1-induced signaling complexes phosphorylate TAK1 and TAB2 at the plasma membrane and activate TAK1 in the cytosol. Mol Cell Biol 2002;22:7158-7167.

Johnson GB, Brunn GJ, Kodaira Y, Platt JL. Receptor-mediated monitoring of tissue wellbeing via detection of soluble heparan sulfate by Toll-like receptor 4. J Immunol 2002;168:5233-5239.

Johnson GB, Brunn GJ, Platt JL. Cutting edge: an endogenous pathway to systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS)-like reactions through Toll-like receptor 4. J Immunol 2004;172:20-4.

Junge W, Malyusz M, Ehrens HJ. The role of the kidney in the elimination of pancreatic lipase and amylase from blood. J Clin Chem Clin Biochem 1985;23:387-392.

Kagan JC, Medzhitov R. Phosphoinositide-mediated adaptor recruitment controls Toll-like receptor signaling. Cell 2006;125:943-955.

Kamisawa T. Clinical significance of the minor duodenal papilla and accessory pancreatic duct. J Gastroenterol 2004;39:605-615.

Kara ME. The anatomical study on the rat pancreas and its ducts with emphasis on the surgical approach. Ann Anat 2005;187:105-112.

Kato M, Wang H, Kainulainen V, Fitzgerald ML, Ledbetter S, Ornitz DM, Bernfield M. Physiological degradation converts the soluble syndecan-1 ectodomain from an inhibitor to a potent activator of FGF-2. Nat Med 1998;4:691-697.

Khor CC, Chapman SJ, Vannberg FO, Dunne A, Murphy C, Ling EY, Frodsham AJ, Walley AJ, Kyrieleis O, Khan A, Aucan C, Segal S, Moore CE, Knox K, Campbell SJ, Lienhardt C, Scott A, Aaby P, Sow OY, Grignani RT, Sillah J, Sirugo G, Peshu N, Williams TN, Maitland K, Davies RJ, Kwiatkowski DP, Day NP, Yala D, Crook DW, Marsh K, Berkley JA, O'Neill LA, Hill AV. A Mal functional variant is associated with protection against invasive pneumococcal disease, bacteremia, malaria and tuberculosis. Nat Genet 2007;39:523-528.

Kleeff J, Ishiwata T, Kumbasar A, Friess H, Buchler MW, Lander AD, Korc M. The cellsurface heparan sulfate proteoglycan glypican-1 regulates growth factor action in pancreatic carcinoma cells and is overexpressed in human pancreatic cancer. J Clin Invest 1998;102:1662-1673.

Koliopanos A, Friess H, Kleeff J, Shi X, Liao Q, Pecker I, Vlodavsky I, Zimmermann A, Buchler MW. Heparanase expression in primary and metastatic pancreatic cancer. Cancer Res 2001;61:4655-4659.

Koninger J, Giese NA, Bartel M, di Mola FF, Berberat PO, di Sebastiano P, Giese T, Buchler MW, Friess H. The ECM proteoglycan decorin links desmoplasia and inflammation in chronic pancreatitis. J Clin Pathol 2006;59:21-27.

Korn KJ. [Hemorrhagic-Necrotizing Pancreatitis Caused by a Local Shwartzman Phenomenon. Its Differentiation from Tryptic Pancreatitis.]. Frankf Z Pathol 1963;73:203-227.

Krinke GJ. The laboratory rat. Academic, San Diego, Calif. ; London, 2000.

Kudari A, Wig JD, Vaiphei K, Kochhar R, Majumdar S, Gupta R, Yadav TD, Doley RP. Histopathological sequential changes in sodium taurocholate-induced acute pancreatitis. JOP 2007;8:564-572.

Lampel M, Kern HF. Acute interstitial pancreatitis in the rat induced by excessive doses of a pancreatic secretagogue. Virchows Arch A Pathol Anat Histol 1977;373:97-117.

Le Moine O, Devaster JM, Deviere J, Thiry P, Cremer M, Ooms HA. Trypsin activity. A new marker of acute alcoholic pancreatitis. Dig Dis Sci 1994;39:2634-2638.

Leonard EJ, Yoshimura T. Human monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1). Immunol Today 1990;11:97-101.

Lerch MM, Adler G. Experimental animal models of acute pancreatitis. Int J Pancreatol 1994;15:159-170.

Lerch MM, Saluja AK, Dawra R, Ramarao P, Saluja M, Steer ML. Acute necrotizing pancreatitis in the opossum: earliest morphological changes involve acinar cells. Gastroenterology 1992;103:205-213.

Lerch MM, Saluja AK, Runzi M, Dawra R, Saluja M, Steer ML. Pancreatic duct obstruction triggers acute necrotizing pancreatitis in the opossum. Gastroenterology 1993;104:853-861.

Lernbecher T, Muller U, Wirth T. Distinct NF-kappa B/Rel transcription factors are responsible for tissue-specific and inducible gene activation. Nature 1993;365:767-770.

Li Y, Zhou ZG, Xia QJ, Zhang J, Li HG, Cao GQ, Wang R, Lu YL, Hu TZ. Toll-like receptor 4 detected in exocrine pancreas and the change of expression in cerulein-induced pancreatitis. Pancreas 2005;30:375-381.

Lombardi B, Estes LW, Longnecker DS. Acute hemorrhagic pancreatitis (massive necrosis) with fat necrosis induced in mice by DL-ethionine fed with a choline-deficient diet. Am J Pathol 1975a;79:465-480.

Lombardi B, Rao NK. Acute hemorrhagic pancreatic necrosis in mice. Influence of the age and sex of the animals and of dietary ethionine, choline, methionine, and adenine sulfate. Am J Pathol 1975b;81:87-100.

Lu B, Rutledge BJ, Gu L, Fiorillo J, Lukacs NW, Kunkel SL, North R, Gerard C, Rollins BJ. Abnormalities in monocyte recruitment and cytokine expression in monocyte chemoattractant protein 1-deficient mice. J Exp Med 1998;187:601-608.

Löhr M, Fischer B, Weber H, Emmrich J, Nizze H, Liebe S, Klöppel G. Release of hyalutonan and laminin into pancreatic secretions. Digestion 1999;48-55.

Mann F, Foster J, Brimhall S. The relation of the common bile duct to the pancreatic duct in common domestic and laboratory animals. J Lab Clin Med 1920;5:203-206.

Medzhitov R, Preston-Hurlburt P, Janeway CA, Jr. A human homologue of the Drosophila Toll protein signals activation of adaptive immunity. Nature 1997;388:394-397.

Meyerholz DK, Samuel I. Morphologic characterization of early ligation-induced acute pancreatitis in rats. Am J Surg 2007;194:652-658.

Miller MD, Krangel MS. Biology and biochemistry of the chemokines: a family of chemotactic and inflammatory cytokines. Crit Rev Immunol 1992;12:17-46.

Mithofer K, Fernandez-del Castillo C, Rattner D, Warshaw AL. Subcellular kinetics of early trypsinogen activation in acute rodent pancreatitis. Am J Physiol 1998;274:G71-G79.

Murdoch AD, Liu B, Schwarting R, Tuan RS, Iozzo RV. Widespread expression of perlecan proteoglycan in basement membranes and extracellular matrices of human tissues as detected by a novel monoclonal antibody against domain III and by in situ hybridization. J Histochem Cytochem 1994;42:239-249.

Murphy PM, Tiffany HL. Cloning of complementary DNA encoding a functional human interleukin-8 receptor. Science 1991;253:1280-1283.

Nakagawa H, Komorita N, Shibata F, Ikesue A, Konishi K, Fujioka M, Kato H. Identification of cytokine-induced neutrophil chemoattractants (CINC), rat GRO/CINC-2 alpha and CINC-2 beta, produced by granulation tissue in culture: purification, complete amino acid sequences and characterization. Biochem J 1994;301 (Pt 2):545-550.

Nevalainen TJ. Pancreatic injury caused by intraductal injection of foreign serum in rat. Virchows Arch B Cell Pathol 1978;27:89-98.

Nystedt S, Emilsson K, Larsson AK, Strombeck B, Sundelin J. Molecular cloning and functional expression of the gene encoding the human proteinase-activated receptor 2. Eur J Biochem 1995;232:84-89.

Okamura Y, Watari M, Jerud ES, Young DW, Ishizaka ST, Rose J, Chow JC, Strauss JF, 3rd. The extra domain A of fibronectin activates Toll-like receptor 4. J Biol Chem 2001;276:10229-10233.

Okuno M, Himeno S, Kurokawa M, Shinomura Y, Kuroshima T, Kanayama S, Tsuji K, Higashimoto Y, Tarui S. Changes in serum levels of pancreatic isoamylase, lipase, trypsin, and elastase 1 after endoscopic retrograde pancreatography. Hepatogastroenterology 1985;32:87-90.

Opie E. The aetiology of acute haemorrhagic pancreatitis. Johns Hopkins Hospital Bull 1901a;12:182–188.

Opie E. The relation of cholelithiasis to disease of the pancreas and to fat necrosis. Bullet Johns Hopkins Hosp 1901b;12:19-22.

Osman MO, Lausten SB, Jakobsen NO, Kristensen JU, Deleuran B, Larsen CG, Jensen SL. Graded experimental acute pancreatitis: monitoring of a renewed rabbit model focusing on the production of interleukin-8 (IL-8) and CD11b/CD18. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 1999;11:137-149.

Ozinsky A, Underhill DM, Fontenot JD, Hajjar AM, Smith KD, Wilson CB, Schroeder L, Aderem A. The repertoire for pattern recognition of pathogens by the innate immune system is defined by cooperation between toll-like receptors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2000;97:13766-13771.

Pandol SJ, Gukovsky I, Satoh A, Lugea A, Gukovskaya AS. Animal and in vitro models of alcoholic pancreatitis: role of cholecystokinin. Pancreas 2003;27:297-300.

Panteghini M, Pagani F, Alebardi O, Lancini G, Cestari R. Time course of changes in pancreatic enzymes, isoenzymes and, isoforms in serum after endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography. Clin Chem 1991;37:1602-1605.

Pastor CM, Rubbia-Brandt L, Hadengue A, Jordan M, Morel P, Frossard JL. Role of macrophage inflammatory peptide-2 in cerulein-induced acute pancreatitis and pancreatitis-associated lung injury. Lab Invest 2003;83:471-478.

Pastor CM, Vonlaufen A, Georgi F, Hadengue A, Morel P, Frossard JL. Neutrophil depletionbut not prevention of Kupffer cell activation--decreases the severity of cerulein-induced acute pancreatitis. World J Gastroenterol 2006;12:1219-1224.

Pfeffer RB, Stasior O, Hinton JW. The clinical picture of the sequential development of acute hemorrhagic pancreatitis in the dog. Surg Forum 1957;8:248-251.

Poltorak A, He X, Smirnova I, Liu MY, Van Huffel C, Du X, Birdwell D, Alejos E, Silva M, Galanos C, Freudenberg M, Ricciardi-Castagnoli P, Layton B, Beutler B. Defective LPS signaling in C3H/HeJ and C57BL/10ScCr mice: mutations in Tlr4 gene. Science 1998;282:2085-2088.

Proudfoot AE, Handel TM, Johnson Z, Lau EK, LiWang P, Clark-Lewis I, Borlat F, Wells TN, Kosco-Vilbois MH. Glycosaminoglycan binding and oligomerization are essential for the in vivo activity of certain chemokines. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2003;100:1885-1890.

Ramudo L, Manso MA, Sevillano S, de Dios I. Kinetic study of TNF-alpha production and its regulatory mechanisms in acinar cells during acute pancreatitis induced by bile-pancreatic duct obstruction. J Pathol 2005;206:9-16.

Rock FL, Hardiman G, Timans JC, Kastelein RA, Bazan JF. A family of human receptors structurally related to Drosophila Toll. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1998;95:588-593.

Rollins BJ. Chemokines. Blood 1997;90:909-928.

Rollins BJ, Stier P, Ernst T, Wong GG. The human homolog of the JE gene encodes a monocyte secretory protein. Mol Cell Biol 1989;9:4687-4695.

Rollins BJ, Walz A, Baggiolini M. Recombinant human MCP-1/JE induces chemotaxis, calcium flux, and the respiratory burst in human monocytes. Blood 1991;78:1112-1116.

Saka M, Tuzun A, Ates Y, Bagci S, Karaeren N, Dagalp K. Acute pancreatitis possibly due to arginine use: a case report. Turk J Gastroenterol 2004;15:56-58.

Saluja AK, Bhagat L. Pancreatitis, Experimental Models In: Encyclopedia of gastroenterology / Vol. 3 O-Z, L. R. Johnson Ed. Academic press, Amsterdam ; Oxford, 2004.

Saluja AK, Lerch MM, Phillips PA, Dudeja V. Why does pancreatic overstimulation cause pancreatitis? Annu Rev Physiol 2007;69:249-269.

Samuel I, Yorek MA, Zaheer A, Fisher RA. Bile-pancreatic juice exclusion promotes Akt/NF-kappaB activation and chemokine production in ligation-induced acute pancreatitis. J Gastrointest Surg 2006;10:950-959.

Sato S, Sugiyama M, Yamamoto M, Watanabe Y, Kawai T, Takeda K, Akira S. Toll/IL-1 receptor domain-containing adaptor inducing IFN-beta (TRIF) associates with TNF receptor-associated factor 6 and TANK-binding kinase 1, and activates two distinct transcription factors, NF-kappa B and IFN-regulatory factor-3, in the Toll-like receptor signaling. J Immunol 2003;171:4304-4310.

Schaefer L, Babelova A, Kiss E, Hausser HJ, Baliova M, Krzyzankova M, Marsche G, Young MF, Mihalik D, Gotte M, Malle E, Schaefer RM, Grone HJ. The matrix component biglycan is proinflammatory and signals through Toll-like receptors 4 and 2 in macrophages. J Clin Invest 2005;115:2223-2233.

Schmidt J, Lewandrowsi K, Warshaw AL, Compton CC, Rattner DW. Morphometric characteristics and homogeneity of a new model of acute pancreatitis in the rat. Int J Pancreatol 1992a;12:41-51.

Schmidt J, Rattner DW, Lewandrowski K, Compton CC, Mandavilli U, Knoefel WT, Warshaw AL. A better model of acute pancreatitis for evaluating therapy. Ann Surg 1992b;215:44-56.

Schneider A, Whitcomb DC, Singer MV. Animal models in alcoholic pancreatitis--what can we learn? Pancreatology 2002;2:189-203.

Schreiber S. Animal models: are they useful for the investigation of gastrointestinal disease? Int J Colorectal Dis 2000;15:126.

Schroder NW, Morath S, Alexander C, Hamann L, Hartung T, Zahringer U, Gobel UB, Weber JR, Schumann RR. Lipoteichoic acid (LTA) of Streptococcus pneumoniae and Staphylococcus aureus activates immune cells via Toll-like receptor (TLR)-2, lipopolysaccharide-binding protein (LBP), and CD14, whereas TLR-4 and MD-2 are not involved. J Biol Chem 2003;278:15587-15594.

Shi C, Zhao X, Lagergren A, Sigvardsson M, Wang X, Andersson R. Immune status and inflammatory response differ locally and systemically in severe acute pancreatitis. Scand J Gastroenterol 2006;41:472-480.

Shibata F, Konishi K, Kato H, Komorita N, al-Mokdad M, Fujioka M, Nakagawa H. Recombinant production and biological properties of rat cytokine-induced neutrophil chemoattractants, GRO/CINC-2 alpha, CINC-2 beta and CINC-3. Eur J Biochem 1995;231:306-311.

Shibata F, Konishi K, Nakagawa H. Identification of a common receptor for three types of rat cytokine-induced neutrophil chemoattractants (CINCs). Cytokine 2000;12:1368-1373.

Sorensen BB, Persson E, Freskgard PO, Kjalke M, Ezban M, Williams T, Rao LV. Incorporation of an active site inhibitor in factor VIIa alters the affinity for tissue factor. J Biol Chem 1997;272:11863-11868.

Steinberg W, Tenner S. Acute pancreatitis. N Engl J Med 1994;330:1198-1210.

Steinle AU, Weidenbach H, Wagner M, Adler G, Schmid RM. NF-kappaB/Rel activation in cerulein pancreatitis. Gastroenterology 1999;116:420-430.

Su KH, Cuthbertson C, Christophi C. Review of experimental animal models of acute pancreatitis. HPB 2006;8:264-286.

Subramanian SV, Fitzgerald ML, Bernfield M. Regulated shedding of syndecan-1 and -4 ectodomains by thrombin and growth factor receptor activation. J Biol Chem 1997;272:14713-14720.

Suzuki N, Suzuki S, Duncan GS, Millar DG, Wada T, Mirtsos C, Takada H, Wakeham A, Itie A, Li S, Penninger JM, Wesche H, Ohashi PS, Mak TW, Yeh WC. Severe impairment of

interleukin-1 and Toll-like receptor signalling in mice lacking IRAK-4. Nature 2002;416:750-756.

Takeda K, Kaisho T, Akira S. Toll-like receptors. Annu Rev Immunol 2003;21:335-376.

Takeuchi O, Hoshino K, Kawai T, Sanjo H, Takada H, Ogawa T, Takeda K, Akira S. Differential roles of TLR2 and TLR4 in recognition of gram-negative and gram-positive bacterial cell wall components. Immunity 1999a;11:443-451.

Takeuchi O, Kawai T, Muhlradt PF, Morr M, Radolf JD, Zychlinsky A, Takeda K, Akira S. Discrimination of bacterial lipoproteins by Toll-like receptor 6. Int Immunol 2001;13:933-940.

Takeuchi O, Kawai T, Sanjo H, Copeland NG, Gilbert DJ, Jenkins NA, Takeda K, Akira S. TLR6: A novel member of an expanding toll-like receptor family. Gene 1999b;231:59-65.

Tando Y, Algul H, Schneider G, Weber CK, Weidenbach H, Adler G, Schmid RM. Induction of IkappaB-kinase by cholecystokinin is mediated by trypsinogen activation in rat pancreatic lobules. Digestion 2002;66:237-245.

Tani S, Itoh H, Okabayashi Y, Nakamura T, Fujii M, Fujisawa T, Koide M, Otsuki M. New model of acute necrotizing pancreatitis induced by excessive doses of arginine in rats. Dig Dis Sci 1990;35:367-374.

Tapping RI, Akashi S, Miyake K, Godowski PJ, Tobias PS. Toll-like receptor 4, but not tolllike receptor 2, is a signaling receptor for Escherichia and Salmonella lipopolysaccharides. J Immunol 2000;165:5780-5787.

Termeer C, Benedix F, Sleeman J, Fieber C, Voith U, Ahrens T, Miyake K, Freudenberg M, Galanos C, Simon JC. Oligosaccharides of Hyaluronan activate dendritic cells via toll-like receptor 4. J Exp Med 2002;195:99-111.

Thal A. Studies on pancreatitis. II. Acute pancreatic necrosis produced experimentally by the arthus sensitization reaction. Surgery 1955;37:911-917.

Thal A, Brackney E. Acute hemorrhagic pancreatic necrosis produced by local Shwartzman reaction: experimental study on pancreatitis. J Am Med Assoc 1954;155:569-574.

Thal A, Molestina JE. Studies on pancreatitis. III. Fulminating hemorrhagic pancreatic necrosis produced by means of staphylococcal toxin. AMA Arch Pathol 1955;60:212-220.

Triantafilou M, Gamper FG, Haston RM, Mouratis MA, Morath S, Hartung T, Triantafilou K. Membrane sorting of toll-like receptor (TLR)-2/6 and TLR2/1 heterodimers at the cell surface determines heterotypic associations with CD36 and intracellular targeting. J Biol Chem 2006;281:31002-31011.

Walker J. Issues in coagulation In: Autumn meeting of the Association for comparative clinical pathology. Comp Clin Path 2004;12:219-233.

van Minnen LP, Blom M, Timmerman HM, Visser MR, Gooszen HG, Akkermans LM. The use of animal models to study bacterial translocation during acute pancreatitis. J Gastrointest Surg 2007;11:682-689.

van Suylichem PT, van Deijnen JE, Wolters GH, van Schilfgaarde R. Amount and distribution of collagen in pancreatic tissue of different species in the perspective of islet isolation procedures. Cell Transplant 1995;4:609-614.

Wang C, Deng L, Hong M, Akkaraju GR, Inoue J, Chen ZJ. TAK1 is a ubiquitin-dependent kinase of MKK and IKK. Nature 2001;412:346-351.

Wang X, Wu L, Wu K, Zhang R, Dong Y. Roles of endotoxin-related signaling molecules in the progression of acute necrotizing pancreatitis in mice. Pancreas 2005;31:251-257.

Vaquero E, Gukovsky I, Zaninovic V, Gukovskaya AS, Pandol SJ. Localized pancreatic NFkappaB activation and inflammatory response in taurocholate-induced pancreatitis. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 2001;280:G1197-G1208.

Watanabe K, Kinoshita S, Nakagawa H. Purification and characterization of cytokine-induced neutrophil chemoattractant produced by epithelioid cell line of normal rat kidney (NRK-52E cell). Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1989a;161:1093-1099.

Watanabe K, Konishi K, Fujioka M, Kinoshita S, Nakagawa H. The neutrophil chemoattractant produced by the rat kidney epithelioid cell line NRK-52E is a protein related to the KC/gro protein. J Biol Chem 1989b;264:19559-19563.

Waterhouse RM, Kriventseva EV, Meister S, Xi Z, Alvarez KS, Bartholomay LC, Barillas-Mury C, Bian G, Blandin S, Christensen BM, Dong Y, Jiang H, Kanost MR, Koutsos AC, Levashina EA, Li J, Ligoxygakis P, Maccallum RM, Mayhew GF, Mendes A, Michel K, Osta MA, Paskewitz S, Shin SW, Vlachou D, Wang L, Wei W, Zheng L, Zou Z, Severson DW, Raikhel AS, Kafatos FC, Dimopoulos G, Zdobnov EM, Christophides GK. Evolutionary dynamics of immune-related genes and pathways in disease-vector mosquitoes. Science 2007;316:1738-1743.

West AP, Koblansky AA, Ghosh S. Recognition and signaling by toll-like receptors. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 2006;22:409-437.

White SA, Hughes DP, Contractor HH, London NJ. An investigation into the distribution of different collagen types within adult and juvenile porcine pancreata. J Mol Med 1999;77:79-82.

Widdison AL, Alvarez C, Reber HA. The low-pressure duct perfusion model of acute pancreatitis. Eur Surg Res 1992;24 Suppl 1:55-61.

Williams HU, Busch FC. The Etiology and Pathogenesis of Acute Pancreatitis. J Med Res 1907;17:35-55.

Williams LF, Jr., Byrne JJ. The role of bacteria in hemorrhagic pancreatitis. Surgery 1968;64:967-972.
Wilson C, Imrie CW. Changing patterns of incidence and mortality from acute pancreatitis in Scotland, 1961-1985. Br J Surg 1990;77:731-734.

Vonlaufen A, Apte MV, Imhof BA, Frossard JL. The role of inflammatory and parenchymal cells in acute pancreatitis. J Pathol 2007a;213:239-248.

Vonlaufen A, Xu Z, Daniel B, Kumar RK, Pirola R, Wilson J, Apte MV. Bacterial Endotoxin: A Trigger Factor for Alcoholic Pancreatitis? Evidence From a Novel, Physiologically Relevant Animal Model. Gastroenterology 2007b;133:1293-1303.

Wuyts A, Proost P, Lenaerts JP, Ben-Baruch A, Van Damme J, Wang JM. Differential usage of the CXC chemokine receptors 1 and 2 by interleukin-8, granulocyte chemotactic protein-2 and epithelial-cell-derived neutrophil attractant-78. Eur J Biochem 1998;255:67-73.

Yamamoto M, Sato S, Hemmi H, Sanjo H, Uematsu S, Kaisho T, Hoshino K, Takeuchi O, Kobayashi M, Fujita T, Takeda K, Akira S. Essential role for TIRAP in activation of the signalling cascade shared by TLR2 and TLR4. Nature 2002;420:324-329.

Yamano M, Miyata K, Yamada T. Pancreatic enzyme-induced pancreatitis and systemic complications in rats. Jpn J Pharmacol 1998;77:185-191.

Zagorski J, DeLarco JE. Rat CINC (cytokine-induced neutrophil chemoattractant) is the homolog of the human GRO proteins but is encoded by a single gene. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1993;190:104-110.

Zarember KA, Godowski PJ. Tissue expression of human Toll-like receptors and differential regulation of Toll-like receptor mRNAs in leukocytes in response to microbes, their products, and cytokines. J Immunol 2002;168:554-561.

Zhao HF, Ito T, Gibo J, Kawabe K, Oono T, Kaku T, Arita Y, Zhao QW, Usui M, Egashira K, Nawata H. Anti-monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 gene therapy attenuates experimental chronic pancreatitis induced by dibutyltin dichloride in rats. Gut 2005;54:1759-1767.